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LOGENT GROUP

3,000 EMPLOYEES

1.9 BILLION SEK TURNOVER

STRONG NORDIC PRESENCE
13 LOGISTIC SITES
3 PORTS 
2 INTERMODAL TERMINALS 
6 CUSTOMS OFFICES 
13 STAFFING OFFICES

GLOBAL TRANSPORT NETWORK
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WAREHOUSING

• Development of warehousing 
and distribution

• Project management for new 
establishment & expansion

• Design & implementation of 
automation solutions

• Layout and inventory 
optimisation

• Operation and continuous 
improvements 

PORTS & TERMINALS

• Operation and 
development of port 
operations

• Operation and 
development of combi 
terminal operations

PRODUCTION  LOGISTICS

• Operation and development of 
internal logistics for industrial 
companies:

• Receipt of materials

• Inventory management

• Picking and kitting

• Line side feeding

• Internal material distribution

• Packing management

TRANSPORT MANAGEMENT

• Control of costs, quality and environmental impact

• Development, administration and control of goods 
flows

• Optimisation of transport flows

• Transport sourcing

• Independent transport partner with global network

CUSTOMS
• Customised solutions for your business

• Cost & quality control

• Independent and complete provider of 
customs services 

• Operation of customs office

STAFFING & RECRUITMENT

• Staffing partner for staffing requirements within warehousing, distribution, industry 
and administration

• Recruitment of managers and specialists within SCM, sourcing, logistics and industry

SEGMENTS AND BUSINESS AREAS
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A message from the CEO

When we close the books and look back on
2021, we can reflect on a very good year.
Financially, 2021 was our best year ever, with
SEK 163 million in EBITA and 1.9 billion in
turnover, which represents a growth rate of
35%.

The key to this success has been a number of
new partnerships with customers as well as a
generally strong level of growth, in particular
in e-commerce, where Logent holds a strong
position.

2021 was also the year when Logent
established itself in Denmark through the
acquisition of Dan Spedition, a customs
company with operations in Padborg and
Århus. This development is in line with the
strategic direction that was determined when
Stirling Square Capital Partner acquired the
majority of the Group in the summer of 2019.
Logent has a wide offering of logistics
solutions, and the chosen strategic direction
entails growth within these services as well as
the establishment of new selected markets
through acquisitions. Due to the COVID-19
pandemic, it has been a challenge to carry out
acquisitions, which is why it is particularly
pleasing that we have been able to make

progress in this strategic area.

For Logent it is important to ”make a
difference”. Naturally this means that we
always focus on our customers and make
sure that we meet their needs and the needs
of their customers. But it also means that we
make a difference for our own people as
individuals and that we have an inclusive work
environment. Logent currently provides
employment to around 3,500 people, and
naturally we can ”make a difference” by

helping individuals who have difficulty
entering the labour market to find permanent
jobs. As part of our ”CSR” efforts, we have
employed dedicated resources focused
solely on identifying these individuals and
helping them find suitable positions, in
particular at Logent’s own workplaces. During
2021 we helped 185 people find permanent
jobs. This makes me extremely proud, as I
know how much it means to each of these
individuals to be able to go to work each day
and make a positive contribution to society
(please watch our video
https://logent.se/wp-
content/uploads/2020/09/LOGENT_Beman
ning.mp4?_=1).

We have also carried out a mapping of our
CO2 footprint for the whole group. As a result
of this we have implemented a number of
measures, including changing all fuel to HVO,
introducing a new vehicle policy with
electrification as a requirement, and investing
in resources in sustainable logistics design,
with the aim of further helping our customers
to achieve their sustainability transition, where
the logistics chain is an important component.
We are also proud to be able to say that our
Transport Management business area has
now completed the implementation of its
system for measuring our customers’
transport-related CO2 footprint. The transport
sector is one of the areas with the greatest
impact on CO2 emissions. It is therefore
important for us to be able to measure
emissions and show our customers the results
of the measurements and what they can do to
reduce their emissions. This has been
extremely well received by our customers,
who also see this as an important area of
focus.

”Strong growth and our best result ever” 
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A message from the CEO

Mats Steen, CEO

”Strong growth and our best result ever” 
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When it comes to the impact of the pandemic
on Logent, we have seen both positive and
negative effects. The e-commerce segment
has clearly experienced a positive trend, while
other segments have been negatively
affected, for example Ports & Terminals,
where reduced volumes have been a
consequence of the semiconductor shortage
that has affected the automotive segment.

We have not seen any significant impact on
Logent due to the war in the Ukraine. We have
had certain minor relationships with transport
and customs services between Sweden and
Russia, and these have now been terminated.
At present it is difficult to predict how a
continuation of the war might affect Logent.

The first part of 2022 has seen a continuation
of certain trends: strong growth, focus on
geographical expansion, continued customer
focus and continued endeavours to make a
difference for individuals in our society.

As mentioned, the developments within e-
commerce have been extremely positive, and
we are seeing strong growth for all our
existing customers. This growth means that
our customers have a great need of logistics
development to ensure that they can meet
their capacity requirements, and our current
projects include the implementation of a new
automated e-commerce warehouse for one
of our existing customers, Bubbleroom, as
well as a project for another customer
involving the potential establishment of an
additional warehouse in Europe.

With regard to new establishments of
warehousing operations during 2021, straight
after the summer we started a new
warehouse in Moss for HelloFresh, which will
serve the Norwegian market. We also
established a new warehouse for Semper in
Götene, where they store and distribute food
products.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ) and its subsidiaries (”Logent”) are a logistics company operating in
Sweden, Norway and Denmark. Logent is an independent logistics partner with the ability to offer
true comprehensive solutions for the entire logistics chain. Our strength is the management and
streamlining of the processes required and utilised by logistics-intensive companies. Logent was
founded in 2006 and was initially a growth company, primarily in Staffing. In recent years, the
underlying Group has shifted focus from Staffing to Contract Logistics, and about 80% of sales are
now related to logistics services. The Group has demonstrated significantly increased earnings
since 2016, as well as strong growth since the second half of 2018. Logent operates in Contract
Logistics, which consists of services in Warehousing, Production Logistics, Transport Management,
Customs Services and Ports & Terminals, as well as Staffing and Recruitment.

Logent is an independent logistics partner that provides customised logistics solutions for our
customers. Our strengths are our expertise and our ability to design, implement and operate
logistics solutions of high quality and high efficiency based on the needs of our customers.
Our mission is to become our customers’ reliable partner for their daily logistics needs and long-
term logistics development to support their long-term goals.
We care about our customers, our employees, our communities, the environment and our owners.
Integrity, Diversity, Efficiency and Continuous Improvement form Logent’s core values and serve as
guiding principles in our daily work.

The Parent Company’s business activity is to own and manage shares in subsidiaries. The Parent
Company also provides certain group-wide services for other group companies.

Information about the company
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The Board of Directors and Managing Director of SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ), with registered office
in Stockholm, hereby present the annual report and consolidated financial statements for the
financial year 1 January 2021 - 31 December 2021.

Ryms nån bild här?

SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ) is owned by SSCP Lager MidCo AB, corporate identity number 559109-
9170, with registered office in Stockholm. SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ) is part of a group for which
SSCP Lager TopCo AB prepares the consolidated financial statements for the largest group.

Ownership overview
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Net sales for the whole of 2021 amounted to SEK
1,905 million, representing an increase of 30.9%
compared with the previous year (SEK 1,455
million).

The acquired operations in Denmark (Dan
Spedition AS) contributed SEK 2.9 million for the
whole of 2021.
The Logistics Operations segment accounted for
net sales of SEK 985.7 million, representing an
increase of 27.9% compared with the previous
year. The Logistics Services segment accounted
for net sales of SEK 485.9 million, representing an
increase of 30.8% compared with the previous
year. The Staffing segment accounted for net
sales of SEK 433.7 million, representing an
increase of 38.3% compared with the previous
year.

Adjusted EBITDA, excluding the effect of IFRS
16, amounted to SEK 173.0 million (152.3) for
the whole of 2021. The adjusted EBITDA
margin, excluding IFRS 16, was 9.1% (10.5%).
The decreased margin compared with 2020 is
largely due to a changed customer mix and
the global semiconductor shortage.

For the Logistics Operations segment,
adjusted EBITDA, excluding IFRS 16,
amounted to SEK 127.7 million (108.1), with an
adjusted EBITDA margin of 13.0% (14.0%). As
described above, the decreased margin is due
to the semiconductor shortage and a changed
customer mix.
For the Logistics Services segment, adjusted
EBITDA, excluding IFRS 16, amounted to SEK
25.4 million (20.0). The adjusted EBITDA

margin decreased from 5.4% in 2020 to 5.2% in
2021, due mainly to a changed customer mix,
as well as certain one-off costs in connection
with the acquisition in Denmark.
For the Staffing segment, adjusted EBITDA,
excluding IFRS 16, amounted to SEK 19.7
million (24.7), with an adjusted EBITDA margin,
excluding IFRS 16, of 4.5% (7.9%). The
decreased margin is mainly due to high sick
pay costs related to COVID-19 in Norway,
where the government has not provided
compensation for increased costs to the same
extent as in Sweden. The internal allocation
principle for Staffing personnel working within
Logistics Operations has also been changed to
a more correct principle, which also has a
negative impact on the margin for the Staffing
segment.

Net sales

Earnings
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Liquidity and financial position

In 2021, operating cash flow amounted to
SEK 201.7 million (170.7). The increase is
explained by a significant improvement in
working capital and higher EBITDA.

Net debt amounted to SEK 842.2 million
(997.4). The improvement is attributable
to the increase in cash and cash
equivalents.

Significant events during the
financial year

Two significant new customer contracts
have been implemented during the year.
With regard to Hello Fresh, Logent now
also has a contract for the Norwegian
market, where operations started in June
2021.

In December, Logent also started
operations in Götene on behalf of
Semper.

In September, Logent AB acquired 100%
of the shares in the Danish customs
company Dan Spedition AS.

Significant events after the end 
of the financial year

In January, Logent AB acquired 100% of
the shares in Niels Bonde Spedition ApS,
with registered office in Hirtshals,
Denmark. In March, Niels Bonde Spedition
ApS acquired 100% of the shares in HLT

Spedition P/S and HLT Komplementar

ApS, with registered office in Hellebaek.
Both acquisitions relate to customs
companies.

In January, Fredrik Håkansson left his
position as Business Area President for
Logistics Operations, with Joel Engström
succeeding him in this role. Joel
previously worked within Business
Development for the Group.

9
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SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Risks related to macroeconomic 
factors and cyclical demand

Through its various operating segments, the
Group is active in the logistics market. Like
other companies operating in the logistics
market, the Group is affected by the general
financial and political situation at a global,
regional and local level. The general demand
for logistics services usually follows the trend
in the gross domestic product (GDP) and the
levels of trade volumes within the
geographical regions where the Group
provides its logistics services. The Group is
thus mainly dependent on the GDP
development and related development of
trade volumes in Sweden and Norway, as
well as the development in the geographical
regions and markets in which the Group’s
customers operate, as the demand for the
Group’s logistics services is ultimately
affected by the demand for its customers’
products. In view of the above, there is a risk
that such decrease in demand for the Group’s
logistics services could affect the business,
the operating profit and the financial position
of the Group.

Risks related to COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a limited
impact on the Group during 2021, primarily in
the form of non-compensated sick pay costs
in Norway.

In Sweden, the support for short-term
furloughs has been limited, although the
Group has received support for high sick pay
costs.

The global semiconductor shortage has also
affected the Group and is viewed as an effect
of COVID-19.

The long-term effects of the pandemic are
difficult to predict. Logent is monitoring
developments carefully and will implement
additional measures as necessary.

Risks related to the war in the
Ukraine

Logent has not yet noticed any negative
effects of the conflict in the Ukraine. Certain
transport flows have been stopped, although
these are of limited scope. It is impossible to
predict the potential effects of the conflict in
the future. The Group is monitoring
developments carefully and is ready to
implement measures if required.

Forecast

SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ) does not publish
forecasts.

Transactions with related parties

SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ) has a shareholder
loan from the parent company SSCP Lager
MidCo AB. As of 31 December 2021 this loan
amounted to SEK 341 million.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Organisation and governance
The aim of corporate governance is to achieve
sustainable value creation for shareholders
through good risk management and a
sustainable and sound corporate culture.

Good corporate governance ensures effective
decision making and increases Logent’s
chances of being able to capitalise on new
business opportunities.

The Logent Group has a clear allocation of roles
and responsibilities between Group
Management, the operational business, the
Board of Directors and shareholders. The
organisation is decentralised with clear
mandates from the Board of Directors to Group
Management and further to the operational
business.

The formal structure is divided into three
segments, and these segments comprise a total
of five business areas. The majority of operations
are conducted in Sweden and Norway, although
there are also customs operations in Denmark
since the autumn of 2021.

Examples of external regulations that affect the
governance of the Logent Group include:

▪ The Swedish Companies Act

▪ Regulations regarding accounting and
reporting, including the Swedish Annual
Accounts Act and IFRS

Examples of internal regulations that affect the
governance of the Logent Group include:

▪ Articles of Association

▪ Rules of Procedure for the Board of
Directors

▪ Instructions for the Managing Director

▪ Sustainability Policy, including Code of
Conduct for employees and suppliers

▪ Other internal policies, regulations and
process descriptions

All instructions and policies are revised annually.
The Company is not part of the target group for
the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance and
therefore does not apply the Code, although the
Company’s corporate governance work is
largely inspired by the Code.

Shares and shareholders
SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ) is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of SSCP Lager MidCo AB. SSCP Lager
MidCo AB is, in turn, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of SSCP Lager TopCo AB. At the end of 2021, the
largest shareholder in SSCP Lager BidCo AB
(publ), via SSCP Lager MidCo AB and SSCP
Lager TopCo AB, was SSCP Lager Holdings
S.C.A. with 91.56 percent of the share capital and
91.56 percent of the votes. The remaining 8.44
percent of the share capital and votes were
owned by a number of individuals within
management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

General meeting of shareholders

The Articles of Association contain no limitations
on the number of votes each shareholder may
cast at a general meeting of shareholders.
According to the Articles of Association, SSCP
Lager BidCo (publ) shall have no less than three
and no more than ten board members.
Otherwise, there are no provisions in the Articles
of Association concerning the election and
dismissal of board members, or regarding
amendments to the Articles of Association. The
procedure for issuing notice of a general
meeting of shareholders is set out in the Articles
of Association.

Annual General Meeting 2021

SSCP Lager BidCo (publ) AB’s Annual General
Meeting for 2021 was held in Stockholm on 22
April.

All shares and votes in the Company were
represented at the AGM. At the AGM it was
resolved, inter alia, to:

▪ adopt the income statements and balance
sheets presented in the annual report

▪ appropriate the profit or loss for the year in
accordance with the Board of Directors’

proposal that available profits be carried
forward

▪ grant discharge of liability to the Board of
Directors and the Managing Director in
respect of their administration of the
Company’s affairs during the period 1
January 2021 - 31 December 2021

▪ approve the payment of directors’ fees of
SEK 150,000 per board member, including
the Chairman of the Board

▪ elect the audit firm Öhrlings
PricewaterhouseCoopers AB, with Niklas
Renström as auditor-in-charge, and approve
the payment of audit fees in accordance with
approved invoices

▪ set the number of board members at five,
without deputies, and elect the members of
the Board of Directors (re-election of all
board members)

The Annual General Meeting for 2022 will be
held in April 2023.

12
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Authorisations
The Company does not have any outstanding
authorisations.

Work of the Board of Directors
According to the Articles of Association, the
Board of Directors of SSCP Lager BidCo AB
(publ) shall consist of no less than 3 and no
more than 10 members. During the financial
year, the Board of Directors consisted of:

▪ Dario Aganovic (Chairman)

▪ Andrea Gisle Joosen

▪ Kurt Liljergren

▪ Henrik Lif

The Board of Directors held 7 meetings during
the financial year, including a constituent
meeting. The Chairman of the Board has a
particular responsibility for managing the work
of the Board of Directors and for ensuring that
this work is well organised and performed in
an effective manner. The Board of Directors
has not appointed any separate committees.
Regular agenda items at board meetings
include the Group’s business status and
financial performance and position, major
projects, and issues pertaining to health and
safety and security.

Internal control - financial reporting 

This section contains details of the most
important aspects of SSCP Lager BidCo (publ)
AB’s systems for internal control and risk
management in relation to financial reporting.

Control environment
The Board of Directors is responsible for
ensuring that the Company has an effective
and well-functioning system of risk
management and internal control. The
Company’s internal control environment is
based on a clear allocation of responsibilities
and duties between the Board of Directors
and the Managing Director, as set out in the
Rules of Procedure for the Board of Directors
and the instructions for the Managing Director.
The Board of Directors and the Company’s
management have also adopted a number of
fundamental regulations, policies and process
descriptions that are of importance for the
work involving internal control. All governing
documents and process descriptions are
communicated within the organisation and are
available and known to relevant personnel.
The Company’s management has
responsibility for the internal control functions
required to manage material risks in the
business, and reports to the Board of Directors
on a regular basis in accordance with set
procedures.

13
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Risk assessment and control 
activities 
The Company identifies, analyses and makes
decisions regarding the management of risks
of errors or shortcomings in the Company’s
financial reporting. The Company has
identified the balance sheet and profit/loss
items and the work processes where there is a
risk that inaccuracies, omissions or
irregularities could arise. The Company has
thereafter ensured that requisite control
activities have been incorporated into the
procedures for managing these risks. The
Company’s management is responsible for
managing the overall risks, while the main
work relating to operational risks is managed
within the business units. To ensure the use of
good and effective risk management
procedures, common procedures are used for
the identification and management of risks in
connection with major business arrangements.
Business opportunities in excess of a certain
size are reviewed and analysed before a final
decision is made by the Board of Directors.
The operations in all business areas are
analysed on an ongoing basis to ensure a true
and fair presentation of financial performance
and position.

Information and communication
Internal regulations, policies and process
descriptions are available to the Company’s
personnel. The internal communication
to/from the Company’s Board of Directors and
management takes place via regular
meetings, either physically or digitally. To
ensure that the external financial
communication complies with applicable
regulations on correct information to the
market, there is a Communication Policy that
regulates the process for providing
information.

Monitoring
The Board of Directors reviews and evaluates
the annual report and quarterly reports prior to
publication. The financial reporting and other
closely related issues are monitored and
discussed with the external auditors on an
ongoing basis. Operational monitoring takes
place through the compilation and analysis of
information regarding revenues, customer
monitoring, margins and results, as well as
other important performance measures (KPIs)
for the Company, which are presented to the
Board of Directors on a monthly basis. Other
important aspects of the Company’s internal
control include reviews of forecasts, which
take place twice a year.

14
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

15

Proposed appropriation of profits
The Board of Directors proposes that non-restricted equity, SEK 495,498,488, be appropriated 
as follows:

Amounts in SEK

Share premium reserve 49,637,223
Shareholder contributions received 415,449,187
Retained earnings 3,487,543
Net profit for the year 26,924,535
To be carried forward 495,498,488
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SUSTAINABILITY

SUPPORTING LOGISTICS
FOR A SUSTAINABLE FUTURE
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INTRODUCTION TO LOGENT’S ESG WORK

Logent’s sustainability work
Sustainability is an integral part of Logent’s daily
business. Logent's sustainability work includes
quality assured services, work environment and
environment efforts and corporate social
responsibility. These are very important aspects
both for Logent as well as the society we operate
in.

Logent sustainability relevance
Every part of Logent's operations have some
form of impact on the environment. This may
involve direct impact, such as emissions from our
diesel forklifts in our port operations, or indirect
environmental impact through subcontractors in
our Transport Management operations.
Regardless of where the impact originates,
Logent works to minimize the impact our
business has on the environment

Logent’s ambition
For Logent it is important to support and develop
the society we operate in. Based on Logent’s
ambition, to be a sustainable and highly acted
employer and brand, Logent’s sustainability and
ESG agenda has been developed based on
leading initiatives such as GHG protocol and UN’s
sustainability targets

Logent’s commitment statement

“Logent is an independent logistics
partner providing tailor made logistics
solutions for our customers. Our strengths
are our competence and our capability to
design, implement and operate logistics
solutions with high quality and high
efficiency, based on our customers needs.

Our mission is to become our customers’
trusted partner for day-to-day logistic
needs and long-term logistics
development in order to support their
long-term goals.

We care about our customers, our
employees, our communities, the
environment and our owners.

Integrity, diversity, efficiency and constant
improvement are Logent’s core values
and act as guiding principles in our daily
work.“

17
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SUSTAINABILITY FRAMEWORK

Logent’s sustainability framework is inspired by leading global practices. Logent support the
17 United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

Logent is a Nordic logistics company focused on raising the quality standard for our
customers’ logistics solutions. Given our geographical presence and business model, we have
chosen to focus on the following five SDGs:

• 3. Good health and well-being

• 8. Decent work and economic growth

• 9. Industry innovation and infrastructure

• 10. Reduced inequalities

• 13. Climate action

Logent strives to be a leading example within these goals. We aim to set up measurable
initiatives to ensure constant improvement in ESG matters.

Logent’s sustainability focus areas

18
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SUSTAINABILITY GUIDING PRINCIPLES

Logent has chosen to describe the five selected United Nations sustainability
goals by: Environment, social and governance

For each guiding principle, Logent sets an overall goal, principle and/or policy as a baseline to
our initiatives

For each guiding principle several detailed goals are defined which will be measured, reported
and tracked to ensure Logent’s ambitions result in tangible results

Logent’s sustainability guiding principles

• Climate change and greenhouse gas emissions

• Efficient use of energy, water and natural 
resources

• Waste management

• Reduce inequality

• Increase health and well-being

• Appropriate labour practices

• Occupational health and safety

• Cyber security 

• Standards of professional conduct and integrity

• Internal management procedures and controls

• Stakeholder engagement

Environment

Social

Governance
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LOGENT’S SUSTAINABILITY GOALS

• Use of energy: Logent shall, when in charge of facilities, strive to
minimize energy use and focus on renewable sources

• Climate change and greenhouse emissions: Logent shall strive to
measure its impact on climate change and minimize its climate footprint,
as well as safeguard its operations from potential climate-related risks

• Waste management: Logent shall implement waste reduction
measures in every part of operations

• Inequality reduction: Logent treats all individuals equally, and will strive
to foster an inclusive cultural environment and establish equal
opportunity measures

• Health & well-being: Logent shall, through charity and sponsorship
projects and internal health and work-life balance initiatives, improve
employees’ health and well-being and support its communities

• Occupational health and safety: Logent shall strive to have zero work
related incidents and accidents

• Cyber security: Logent respects individuals’ right to data privacy. It shall
establish strict data protection policies for business and personal data

• Standards of professional conduct and integrity: Logent shall in our
dealings with customers, business partners, employees and owners act
fairly and with integrity at all times

• Internal management procedures and controls: Logent shall have
methods of monitoring and controlling production, administration and
service activities to ensure high quality production and financial
reporting

• Stakeholder engagements: Logent shall evaluate all stakeholders
based on established policies and guidelines to ensure all
counterparties live up to Logent’s high ethical standards and
expectations

Environment

Social

Governance
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ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

CO2
CH4

N2O
HFCs

PFCs
SF6

Up-stream activities Reporting company Down-streams activities

Scope 3
indirect

Scope 2
indirect

Scope 3
indirect

Use of sold services

Distribution

Investments

Scope 1
direct

Facilities

Company 
cars

Up-stream
Leased assets

Business Travel

Energy use

Scope 1 Direct emission from operations or assets owned or controlled by Logent 
Direct 

emissions

Indirect 
emissions

Scope 2
Emission generated by purchased or acquired electricity, district heating, 
district cooling or steam used by sites or operations controlled or used by 
Logent

Scope 3
All indirect emission (excluding scope 2 emissions) originating in Logent’s
value stream, both upwards and downwards 

Logent undertakes several initiatives each year to become a more sustainable organization.
These initiatives are based on Logent’s sustainability goals and are frequently measured and
followed up.

Logent has chosen to measures the CO2 emission according to the CHG protocol
During 2021 Logent has developed a framework to measure our CO2 footprint which follows the
CHG protocol. Logent's ambition is to follow up on scope 1, 2 and 3.

Introduction to Logent's climate action

Emission Scope Definition
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LOGENT'S SUSTAINABILITY DATA

In 2021 the consultancy firm EY was engaged by Logent to perform a boundary assessment relating to
Scope 1, 2 and 3 of the CHG protocol described on the previous page. Included in EY scope was also to
design procedures to correctly obtain data in a structured manner. During this assessment it was
concluded that Logent should only include operations where Logent have control or possibility to control
the operations. Based on this definition only operations where Logent holds the lease agreement for the
facility has been included in Scope 1 & 2. For Scope 3, a more detailed assessment is given below.

Scope / Category Boundary assessment Method used to collect data

Scope 1 All direct emissions connected to use of fossil fuels, e.g. 
fuel consumptions of forklifts and company cars. Include 
all direct emissions from all sites and office, no operations 
is excluded

Number of litres of Diesel HVO or Petrol used 
during period. Emissions coefficient applied.

Scope 2 Emissions from heating and electricity. Logent only 
include emissions from locations where Logent holds 
lease agreement. Electricity and heating included, water 
not included since not relevant in Sweden.

Electricity and heating in KwH for offices and 
production sites per production sort and 
supplier/contract. 
Market based approach used.

Scope 3 - Category 1 
Purchased Goods and Services

Includes all Purchased Goods and Services for the group 
during the reporting period and which is not included in 
other scope 3 categories. Logent has a small amount of 
purchasing, main categories are clothes and office 
supplies.

Transport Managements purchases of Transports are 
however included in this category as a sub-group.

For purchased transports a detailed calculation 
based on weight, km and goods dimensions for 
every shipment is used. Assumptions on 
emissions from vehicles is used based on 
Network for Transport Measures (NTM) to derive 
final CO2e.

For other purchased goods, these are divided into 
categories with an emissions factor connected to 
each category based on purchasing amount 
(input-output method).

Scope 3 - Category 2
Capital Goods

Emissions connected to capital expenditure (investments) 
made during the reporting period (embodied emissions). 
Logent has also chosen to included leasing of forklift in 
this category.

Cradle to life data does not exists on forklifts. 
Calculation done based on weight of the 
materials on each forklifts model and apply  a 
emissions factors to retrieve  CO2e estimation.

Scope 3 - Category 3
Fuel-and energy-related activities

Included extraction, production and transport of fuel and 
energy purchased by Logent during the reporting period 
which is not included in scope 1 & 2. For example 
transformation and distribution losses in the power grid.

Data from Scop 1 & Scope 2 used to calculate this 
component via industry standards and emissions 
factors.

Scope 3 - Category 4
Upstream transportation and distribution 

Logent has no products and instead delivers services 
where emissions are connected to other categories. 

N/A

Scope 3 - Category 5
Waste generated in operations

Waste from operations only included were Logent holds 
lease agreement and can influence and take decisions on 
handling of waste. 

Number of tons of waste from different fractions 
collected. Emissions factors applied based on 
Defra 2021.

Scope 3 - Category 6
Business Travel

Business travel with trains has been excluded since low 
CO2e footprint and climate compensated by train 
operators. Business travels by flight included, Emissions 
from company cars included in Scope 1. 

For all business travels by plane, destinations 
have been used to derive number of kilometres. 
On that an emissions coefficient has been applied 
based on Long-haul/Short-haul flights.

Scope 3 - Category 7 
Employee Commuting

Given Logent's amount of employees it was concluded 
that data on commuting needs to be collected. 
All personnel (regular and staffing) within Logent 
operations and white collar are included. Pure staffing 
personnel working at external companies are not 
included due to uncertainty in data and give that Logent 
can not influence the location of these operations.

Survey sent out to all white and blue collar within 
the scope. Based on data received and average 
CO2e per locations was calculated. For blue-
collars this was multiplied by number of working 
shifts to get a total CO2e figure. For white and 
average amount of working days was used which 
was multiplied with the calculated average CO2e 
per individual based of the survey.

Scope 3 – Category 8-15
Category 8 – Upstream leased assets
Category 9 – Downstream transportation and 
distribution
Category 10 – Processing of sold products
Category 11 – Use of sold products
Category 12 – End-of-life treatment of sold products
Category 13 – Downstream leased assets
Category 14 – Franchises
Category 15 – Investments

None of these categories deemed as applicable mainly 
due to Logent not having any products (Logent is a 
service provider). 

N/A
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LOGENT'S ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

Logent's CO2 emissions

Logent's ambition is to constantly
reduce our impact on the
environment. By measuring our
CO2 footprint, we can monitor
out development and take
appropriate action to accomplish
further reductions. Logent
currently sees a positive trend
with our carbon footprint being
reduced over 2021 in all three
scopes (scope 1, 2 and 3).
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purchase different types of transport solutions. During 2021
Logent scope 3 emissions adds up to 22,951 tones CO2e.
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ENVIRONMENTAL INITIATIVES

Logent's environmental sustainability

Based on Logent’s sustainability goals several
initiatives have been initiated to improve Logent's
environmental sustainability. Below are a selection of
key initiatives conducted or currently ongoing.

Summary of key initiatives - Minimize climate footprint 
through reduction of non-renewable energy sources

Electrification of fleet – To reduce use of fossil fuel Logent
strives to electrify the vehicle fleet including company cars. This
is an ongoing work, and the fleet is constantly updated with new
cars which are fully or partly electric. Since Logent took the
decision to transform the company car fleet, 55% of the fleet has
been transformed to electrified cars.

Implementation of HVO100 – It is today not possible to
implement electrified vehicles in all of Logent's operation e.g. for
heavy duty machinery such as Tug masters or wheel loaders. For
this type of vehicles Logent uses HVO100 (when applicable) to
reduce the CO2 emission generated by Logent's operation.
Logent uses HVO100 in 20% of the total fleet and 65% of the fleet
is electrified.

Driver of improved energy performance for our customers –
Logent offers expertise in logistics solutions and automation. As
an integral part of Logent Logistics Operations service offering
we continuously implement built in energy savings in our
solutions. For example, Logent optimizes our automation and
robotic installations to consume as little energy as possible and
optimize them to work on times when the energy availability is
high. This also has a positive effect on productivity because the
automation can prepare orders during nighttime and weekends
when the staff is not working.

Fleet Fuel source distribution

Data driven sustainability improvements - Logent Transport
Management has developed a tool to monitor (in real time) the
CO2 impact from our customers transport solutions. This tool
enables a systematic improvement process where Logent
together with the customer identifies potential improvements.
Logent also scans the market on regular basis to use as
sustainable solutions as possible in the transport designs that we
recommend to the customers. Examples of improvements that
has reduced CO2 emission for Logent´s customers are:

• Transport and packaging consolidation

• Truck to train transition

• Load and stack optimization
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ENVIRONMENTAL INITIATIVES

Waste handling – Logent has a robust system for waste
management at our local sites minimizing both the volume of
waste and the impact it creates on the environment. At all
new Logent's sites waste compactors is used, and a detailed
waste sorting system implemented. Logent contracts
certified partners for handling of waste fractions and waste
transports from Logent's sites.

Reuse of material (circular economy)– one part of Logent's
operation is handling packaging and pallet material. As part of
this operation Logent recycle and repair damage packaging
material and pallets by replacing malfunctioning parts or
damaged components. In 2021 over 291 000 pallets was
repaired which is a substantial reduction on environmental
impact since the alternative would have been to discard
damages pallets and purchase new, this is one example on
Logent's contribution to a circular economy.

Employee energy use – Logent's stives to minimize energy
use in all parts of our operation, when material used in our
operation is worn out it is recycled, enabling the garments to
be used in new fabrics.

Public transports and commuting – Logent employs over
3000 people in approximately 50 different locations in
Sweden, Denmark and Norway. Our sites are often located
outside of the larger cities and connections with e.g. public
transport can be insufficient or not existing at all. For our
operation to function and be able to deliver we are
dependent on competent people that can be on site every
day. Logent tries to find transport solutions for our employees
that are efficient for both the environment and our operation.
Logent's operations in Bjuv for example demands a larger
staffing pool than the surrounding area can offer. Logent has
in this case collaborated with the local public transport
company who now operates a bus line from the surrounding
local cities. This reduces single car transports. Logent's goal is
to further encourage and support employees to choose
commuting alternatives with less climate impact. For
example, the employees have the possibility to lease a
company bike that can be used for commuting.
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SOCIAL SUSTAINABILITY

For Logent, it is important to take responsibility for society at
large. Every year, Logent provides employment to more than
3,000 people from all levels of society, from those with
university qualifications to those who find it difficult to enter the
labour market. This includes newly arrived immigrants, persons

Introduction to social sustainability at Logent

Logent’s overall objective is for gender equality measures to be a natural and integral part of all
business activities. The conditions, rights and development opportunities for women and men should
be equal throughout the Company and not dependent on gender or origin. Logent strives to contribute
to the creation of a society that is characterised by gender equality and endeavours to be a fair and
responsible member of the labour market. Logent has a zero tolerance policy in relation to unequal
treatment and discrimination. Logent has established policies and control mechanisms, including a
whistleblowing function, for identifying and eliminating all types of improprieties and unacceptable
behaviour at Logent’s workplaces.

Increased gender equality

PERSONNEL 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

KPI - GENDER EQUALITY 

NO. OF MEN (%) 1,915 (73) 1,352 (73) 970 (77) 1,047 (78) 1,243 (78) 1,453 (72)

NO. OF WOMEN (%) 706 (27) 501 (27) 292 (23) 303 (22) 354 (22) 557 (28)

NO. OF MEN IN MANAGEMENT (%) 10 (91) 9 (81) 11 (92) 11 (92) 8 (80) 9 (90)

NO. OF WOMEN IN MANAGEMENT (%) 1 (9) 2 (19) 1 (8) 1 (8) 2 (20) 1 (10)

KPI - PREVENTIVE CARE

SICK LEAVE (DAYS 2-14) WHITE-COLLAR 0.53% 0.71% 0.89% 0.85% 1.14% 1.69%

SICK LEAVE (DAYS 2-14) BLUE-COLLAR 4.40% 3.93% 3.04% 2.74% 3.12% 4.32%

KPI - EMPLOYEE TURNOVER

EMPLOYEE TURNOVER WHITE-COLLAR % 38% 40% 24% 39% 35% 40%

KPI - CODE OF CONDUCT

NO. OF INCIDENTS REPORTED 0 1 0 0 0 N/A

0.53%

Average sick leave 2021 – White-collar

4.40%

Average sick leave 2021 – Blue-collar

26

0
No. of reports of misconduct 2021

Logent strives to ensure security and continuity in the employer/employee relationship. Logent actively
conducts systematic work environment measures. Logent’s workplaces are mapped on the basis of the
work environment and health and safety issues, and any discrepancies are rectified. Together with its
customers, Logent also takes responsibility for the work environment at customers’ workplaces where
Logent’s staff work. It is important for Logent to ensure that staff members always feel safe and secure
at their workplace.

Health and Safety 

classified as long-term unemployed and individuals with certain disabilities or functional variations. By 
being able to provide work for people with different backgrounds, Logent helps to increase diversity and 
reduce social inequalities between groups and contributes to safe and secure workplaces.
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KEY INITIATIVES

Social sustainability at Logent
As a result of Logent’s ambition to reduce inequalities, we have developed a number of long-term
diversity and inclusion initiatives, with the aim of encouraging the employment of individuals who
would otherwise find it difficult to enter the Swedish labour market (such as ethnic minorities and
persons with disabilities). These initiatives help make Logent one of the highest ranked employers
in Sweden, referred to by the Swedish Public Employment Service as a ”leading example”.

Ethnic minorities in work – In collaboration with the Swedish
Public Employment Service, Logent has developed a process
for using Swedish government funding (employment support)
to help people from ethnic minorities find work. The goal is to
help introduce newly arrived immigrants with a minority
background to the Swedish labour market. This initiative was
launched in 2017, and since then Logent has employed more
than 400 newly arrived immigrants from ethnic minorities.

Individuals with functional variations in work – In 2019,
Logent launched an initiative for employing individuals with
functional variations such as autism, concentration difficulties,
impaired hearing, etc.

Through a study that was carried out at two workplaces in
2019, Logent identified Logent workstations where around 20
individuals could be employed. During 2021 the goal was to
spread the concept to all workplaces within Logent and
employ a further 20 individuals, and to also provide this
service to external customers. This initiative has resulted in an
additional 185 new jobs during 2021.

Employees under the age of 23 – Logent’s Staffing
operations provide employment for many young people in the
age group 18-24. This group is vulnerable in today’s society, as
many of the young people in this group find it difficult to enter
the labour market. When Logent can act as a bridge between
an individual’s years of study and their working life, there are
great benefits for society at large.

Key Initiatives
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GOVERNANCE & MANAGEMENT

Quality and customer satisfaction are the
cornerstones of our business model. Together
with our customers, we strive daily to achieve the
highest level of quality in all parts of our
business, from the workshop floor to invoicing.

To ensure such high standards, Logent has
clearly defined roles and areas of responsibility,
training programs and control/optimisation
programs, such as:

Introduction to Logent’s governance model

28

1. Operational Excellence program

For Logent, it is important that the customer
perceives our services as affordable, quality-
assured and customisable. To ensure a high level
of quality, Logent has developed an Operational
Excellence program that includes:

▪ Productivity & quality

▪ Work environment & risk management

▪ Staff & personal development

▪ Financing

▪ Contracts & business development

2. Internal Control program

The aim of Logent’s Internal Control program is
to ensure quality, completeness and correctness
in Logent’s processes and reporting, including
financial reporting. This initiative was launched in
2018 with the aim of reviewing every profit centre
once a year. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and
enforced travel restrictions, the Company was
forced to put the work with this initiative on hold
in 2020 & 2021. However, during 2021 a decision
was made to invest in increased resources, and
in 2022 Logent will perform a complete review of
the internal control environment with the help of
an external party. No major defects or
shortcomings have been discovered during 2021.

1. Operational Excellence program

2. Internal Control program

3. ISO and other certifications

4.Well-developed policies and procedures
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GOVERNANCE & MANAGEMENT
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3. ISO and other certifications

Logent has possessed a number of certifications
for several years. For Logent, these certifications
are important and provide our services with a
stamp of quality. Within the Logent Group, we
have dedicated individuals who work with these
external quality programs, and all certifications
were renewed in 2021 without remarks.

4. Well-developed policies and procedures

Logent is a company that acts with the highest
ethical standards, and we strive to ensure that
we always have an unblemished reputation
among customers, investors, staff members and
other stakeholders.

Guidelines and policies have been developed
and implemented with the aim of guiding all
employees to act in an ethical and fair manner.
These are reviewed annually, and all policies are
readily available at Logent’s offices and via our
digital file-sharing platform. Two of Logent’s key

documents are our Code of Conduct and

Supplier Code of Conduct.

Logent’s Code of Conduct and other important

policies are reviewed annually. New employees
undergo an introduction to Logent during which
these documents are communicated together
with the responsible manager, to ensure that the
Logent culture is understood and accepted.

Logent is certified in accordance with ISO
9001 & ISO 14001. These standards aim to
maintain a high level of quality and well-
developed environmental procedures.

AEO is a customs service standard that
ensures that a company has a high level of
quality and solid processes, with a strong and
robust control structure in relation to customs
services. Logent possesses the AEO
certification in Sweden, Norway and Denmark.

Logent is an authorised staffing and
recruitment company. This certification is
renewed annually, and the final decision
regarding renewal is made by the board of the
certification body. They ensure that the holder
of the certification has good quality and fair
working conditions.
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Dario Aganovic
Chairman of the Board since 2019
Other current 
assignments/positions: Dario is 
currently CEO of Vision 
Ophthalmology Group GmbH and 
Non-Executive Director of Hermes 
Medical Solutions AB.

Dario has a PhD in Industrial 
Engineering and Management from 
KTH Royal Institute of Technology in 
Stockholm.

Andrea Gisle Joosen
Board member since 2019
Other current 
assignments/positions: Andrea is 
currently Chairman of the Board of 
Acast AB and Non-Executive 
Director of ICA Gruppen AB, James 

Hardie Industries plc, Dixons 

Carphone Ltd, BillerudKorsnäs AB 
and Qred AB.

Andrea has an MSc in International 
Business from CBS (Copenhagen 
Business School).

Kurt Liljergren
Board member since 2019
Other current 
assignments/positions: Kurt 

Liljergren is the owner of Bukit

Timah Logistics (a logistics 

consulting company).

Kurt has a Master’s degree in 
Economics and Logistics from 
Örebro University.

Henrik Lif
Board member since 2019
Other current assignments/positions: Henrik has been 
a Partner at Stirling Square Capital Partners in London 
since 2017. He is currently Chairman of the Board of 
Docu Nordic Sweden and a board member for Zengun 
Group AB (publ).

Henrik has an MBA from Stockholm School of 
Economics and an MSc in Mechanical Engineering 
from KTH Royal Institute of Technology in Stockholm.

Logent’s Board of Directors held 7 meetings during 2021. Minutes were kept of all board meetings. 
The following individuals are members of Logent’s Board of Directors:
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APPENDIX A: KPI TABLE 

KPI (Unit) Definition Outcome 2021

Scope 1 emissions (tCO2e/tSEK) Logent’s direct emissions divided by total net sales 718 tCO2e/tSEK

Scope 2 emissions (tCO2e/tSEK) Logent’s indirect emissions divided by total net sales 122 tCO2e/tSEK

Scope 3 emissions (tCO2e/tSEK) Emissions generated by Logent’s services/products divided by total net sales 21,018 tCO2e/tSEK

Energy intensity (kWh/tSEK) Energy consumption divided by total net sales 2.3 kWh/tSEK

Renewable electricity (%) % of Logent’s energy consumption that originates from renewable energy sources 100%

Waste compactors (%) % of Logent’s applicable operations that have waste compactors 80%

Waste intensity (kg/tSEK) Logent’s total amount of waste divided by total net sales 0.02 kg/tSEK
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Sick leave (%) Number of sick leave days divided by number of employees (days 2 - 14 workers) 4.4%

Reported injuries (‰) Number of reported injuries resulting in absence divided by number of employees 1,0‰

Number of cases of 
discrimination and harassment

Number of reported cases of discrimination and harassment divided by number of 
employees

0

Employee turnover (white-collar)
Number of employees who have left during the year / average number of employees 
for the year (white-collar only)
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Number of female employees Number of female employees divided by total number of employees 706 (27%)

% of female employees in the 
Company’s management team

Number of women in the management team divided by total number of members of 
the management team

1/11 (9%)

Number of board members 4

Number of board meetings in 2021 7

Board of Directors attendance rate (%) 93%

Nationalities represented on the Board of Directors 2

Female board members (%) 20%

Independent board members (%) 0%

Audit fees and fees for non-audit services (SEK) Audit: 1,811,000 / 
Non-audit: 443,000

Directors’ fees Per independent board member: 
SEK 150,000
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APPENDIX B: EU TAXONOMY

Total (SEK thousands) % of taxonomy-eligible activities
% of taxonomy-non-eligible 

activities

Net sales 1,906,376 6% 94%

CAPEX 17,513 0% 100%

OPEX 10,297 35% 65%

Economic activities

Logent is fundamentally a service-producing company without its own products and production, whereon a small part of Logent’s operations are subject to the 
Taxonomy. In order to identify eligible activities within environmental objectives 1 and 2, the Group has considered and analysed the activity descriptions 
provided in annexes 1 and 2 to the EU Taxonomy Complementary Climate Delegated Act. A more in-depth discussion is presented below in relation to the parts 
of the Taxonomy that can be considered applicable to Logent’s operations:

Category 7.7 – Acquisition and ownership of buildings

This category could be considered applicable to Logent, as certain warehousing space is let in connection with Logent’s Warehousing operations. However, any 
letting of warehousing space is always part of an overall service where letting of premises is not a primary activity or viewed as a separate service. According to 
the European Commission’s FAQ on application of the Taxonomy (published by the Commission in February 2022), the IFRS rules may be used to determine 
whether an economic activity included as a component in a customer contract should be reported separately in accordance with the Taxonomy. As the letting of 
warehousing space is not deemed to be a distinct component for separate reporting in Logent’s reporting, a Taxonomy assessment of the overall service has 
been performed. It is Logent’s assessment that the overall service is not subject to the Taxonomy, i.e. it is non-eligible. Furthermore, certain letting of land occurs 
in connection with Logent’s port operations in Gothenburg, although this is limited to land and does not include buildings and is therefore not subject to the 
Taxonomy. 

Category 6.14 – Infrastructure for rail transport

Within its logistics operations, Logent has a rail-bound terminal in Hallsberg where goods are loaded and unloaded via railway. This part of the operations is 
therefore subject to the Taxonomy category 6.14. This activity generated net sales of SEK 16,872 thousand in 2021. The net sales associated with this part of the 
operations have been included in the above table as eligible activities.

Category 6.16 - Infrastructure enabling low carbon water transport

As parts of this category relate to operation of ports, Logent’s operations in the Port of Gothenburg are subject to this category. Logent conducts port operations 
in Gothenburg. Net sales relating to the whole of these operations, which amounted to SEK 101,451 thousand in 2021, are therefore included in the part of 
Logent’s net sales that is subject to the Taxonomy as % of eligible activities. 

Transports

A significant part of Logent’s net sales can be related to transport services provided in the Transport Management business area within Logistics Services. Based 
on applicable accounting principles, Logent is the principal in these transactions based on the credit risk borne by Logent during these transactions, whereon 
these transport services are reported on a gross basis in external reporting. However, Logent does not have control of the activities in the manner described in 
the European Commission’s FAQ on application of the Taxonomy, as Logent is not the performer of the transport activities and does not bear the responsibility 
for the actual transport service. The Taxonomy applicability is therefore limited. According to Logent’s interpretation of the Taxonomy based on the FAQ issued 
by the European Commission, Logent does not have control of the transport activities as Logent acts more like an agent or intermediary in this respect, whereon 
this source of income and activity is not deemed to be applicable in the Taxonomy. 

KPI Net Sales

Total net sales (the denominator) corresponds to the Group’s total net sales according to IFRS, please see the Income Statement on page 33, and the row ”Net 
sales”. Eligible net sales are obtained by calculating the part of the total net sales generated by the eligible activities that Logent has identified (see the section 
”Economic activities” above), i.e. the numerator, and then dividing by the denominator. 

KPI CAPEX/OPEX

The table above includes reporting of all investments within the Taxonomy’s definition of CAPEX (the denominator) and the investments that are attributable to 
the part of the economic activities (the numerator) that have been assessed as subject to the Taxonomy (see the section ”Economic activities” above). No 
investments were made within these activities during 2021, whereon the figure for eligible activities is zero. The total CAPEX for the year is included as new 
investments in Notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements, and as new right-of-use assets in Note 17. 

The operating expenses (OPEX), according to the Taxonomy’s definition, which Logent has identified (the denominator) relate to direct R&D costs (not 
capitalised), building renovations, short-term lease agreements, repairs and maintenance as well as other direct expenditures concerning the daily maintenance 
of tangible fixed assets required to ensure the continued and appropriate functionality of these assets. Eligible operating expenses (the numerator) are the parts 
of the above costs relating to assets or processes that are associated with Logent’s identified eligible economic activities. For 2021, these consist of property 
maintenance and maintenance of machinery related to the eligible activities.

According to the Taxonomy, the capital expenditures (CAPEX) and operating expenses (OPEX) that do not support eligible activities, but which relate to 
purchases of output from economic activities that are compatible with the Taxonomy requirements and individual measures that make it possible for the target 
activities to become low in carbon dioxide or lead to reduced greenhouse gas emissions, should also be counted as eligible (category C). Logent has not made 
any investments in energy recovery measures during the year and, as no major purchases have been made during the year, other CAPEX/OPEX category C 
have also been excluded.

During 2021, Logent has performed a mapping of economic activities in order to identify applicable parts of the EU Taxonomy and calculate KPIs in accordance with 
the regulation. The conclusions from this work are shown in the table below:
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Amounts in thousands of SEK  Financial period 

 Note 1 January – 31 
December 2021 

1 January – 31 
December 2020 

    

    

Net sales  6 1,905,376 1,455,124 

Own work capitalised  0 808 

Other operating income 9 1,065 1,143 

Total  1,906,441 1,457,074 

    

Operating expenses    

Other external expenses 7 (528,005) (408,254) 

Personnel expenses 8 (1,129,437) (818,594) 

Other operating expenses 10 (1,616) (1,342) 

Earnings before depreciation and amortisation  247,383 228,885 

Depreciation and amortisation of tangible fixed assets, intangible assets 
and right-of-use assets  (146,734) (148,470) 

Net operating profit  100,649 80,415 

    

Result from financial items 11   

Financial income  511 311 

Financial expenses  (117,528) (103,983) 

Financial items – net  (117,016) (103,672) 

    

Net loss before tax  (16,367) (23,258) 

Income tax 12 (9,802) (1,485) 

Net loss for the year  (26,169) (24,743) 

    

Other comprehensive income    

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss    

Exchange differences in translation of foreign operations  2,857 (3,095) 

Total comprehensive income for the year  (23,313) (27,838) 

 

The net loss for the year and total comprehensive income are entirely attributable to the Parent Company’s shareholders. 

The notes on pages 38 to 72 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

Amounts in thousands of SEK    

 Note 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

ASSETS    

Fixed assets    

Intangible assets 16   

Trademarks  135,894 135,894 

Customer contracts  384,816 447,179 

Goodwill  946,853 940,939 

Other intangible assets  10,824 5,625 

Total intangible assets  1,478,388 1,529,638 

    
Tangible fixed assets 15   

Buildings and land  3,836 3,994 

Cost of improvements to leased property  1,270 1,596 

Machinery and other technical facilities  16,096 17,726 

Equipment, tools and fixtures and fittings  5,862 13,390 

Total tangible fixed assets  27,064 36,706 

    
Right-of-use assets 17 288,711 340,021 

    
Financial assets    

Other non-current receivables 18 5,515 1,652 

Total financial fixed assets  5,515 1,652 

    
Deferred tax assets 27 1,367 1,023 

Total fixed assets  1,801,044 1,909,040 

    
Current assets    

Inventories    

Raw materials and consumables  1,118 480 

Total inventories  1,118 480 

    
Current receivables    

Accounts receivable 20 181,151 145,938 

Current tax assets  13,714 8,906 

Other receivables 21 5,146 3,427 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 22 103,642 93,944 

Cash and cash equivalents 23 256,081 239,681 

Total current receivables  559,734 491,895 

    
Total current assets  560,852 492,375 

    

TOTAL ASSETS  2,361,896 2,401,415 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

Amounts in thousands of SEK    

 Note 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    

EQUITY 24   

Share capital  5,565 5,565 

Other contributed capital  465,086 465,086 

Reserves  (965) (3,822) 

Other equity including profit/loss for the year  (109,778) (83,609) 

Total equity  359,908 383,221 

    
LIABILITIES    

Non-current liabilities    

Bond loans 25 797,838 881,572 

Liabilities to shareholders 25 340,700 302,377 

Deferred tax liabilities 27 119,951 128,121 

Lease liabilities 17 219,418 271,256 

Total non-current liabilities  1,477,906 1,583,327 

    
Current liabilities    

Accounts payable  115,462 95,900 

Current lease liabilities 17 68,831 65,855 

Tax liabilities  32,267 26,354 

Other current liabilities 28 88,044 74,904 

Accrued expenses and deferred income 29 219,479 171,854 

Total current liabilities  524,083 434,867 

    

Total liabilities  2,001,989 2,018,194 

    
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  2,361,896 2,401,415 

Total equity is entirely attributable to the Parent Company’s shareholders. 
 
The notes on pages 38 to 72 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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  CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONDENSED)  

Amounts in thousands of SEK   Attributable to the Parent Company’s shareholders  

 Note Share  
capital 

Other 
contributed 

capital 
Reserves 

Retained 
earnings incl. 

profit/loss 
for the period 

Total 
equity 

Opening balance 28 June 2019   50    50 

Profit/loss for the period       (58,865) (58,865) 
Other comprehensive income for 
the period  

   (727)  (727) 

Total comprehensive income for 
the period 

   (727) (58,865) (59,593) 

       

Transactions with shareholders in 
their role as owners  

      

Shareholder contributions    415,449   415,449 

Non-cash issue   5,515 49,637   55,152 

Closing balance 31 December 
2019  

 5,565 465,086 (727) (58,865) 411,059 

       

Profit/loss for the period     (24,743) (24,743) 
Other comprehensive income for 
the period    (3,095)  (3,095) 

Total comprehensive income for 
the period 

   (3,095) (24,743) (27,838) 

Closing balance 31 December 
2020  5,565 465,086 (3,822) (83,609) 383,221 

Profit/loss for the period     (26,169) (26,169) 

Other comprehensive income for 
the period    2,857  2,857 

Total comprehensive income for 
the period    2,857 (26,169) (23,313) 

Closing balance 31 December 
2021  5,565 465,086 (965) (109,778) 359,908 

 

  



 

SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ)    

 
   

37 
 

SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ)    
Corp. ID No. 559109-9154 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 Amounts in thousands of SEK  Financial period 

  Note 
1 January – 31 

December 2021 
1 January – 31 

December 2020 
     
 Cash flow from operating activities    

 Net operating profit   100,649 80,415 

 Adjustments for items not included in cash flow: 33   
 Depreciation and amortisation of tangible fixed assets, intangible 
assets and right-of-use assets  146,734 148,470 

 -Capital gains/losses on disposal of fixed assets  72 45 
 -Exchange differences in translation of profit/loss for the year  (178) (106) 
 Interest received  511 311 

 Interest paid  (60,465) (64,208) 

 Income tax paid  (17,404) (558) 

 Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working 
capital  169,919 164,369 

     
 Cash flow from changes in working capital    

 Increase/decrease in inventories  (626) (144) 

 Increase/decrease in accounts receivable  (32,020) (33,454) 

 Increase/decrease in other current receivables  (10,572) (26,922) 

 Increase/decrease in accounts payable  19,411 (3,128) 

 Increase/decrease in other current operating liabilities  55,616 69,955 

 Total changes in working capital  31,810 6,307 

     
 Cash flow from operating activities  201,728 170,676 

     
 Cash flow from investing activities     

 Acquisitions of subsidiaries less acquired cash and cash equivalents 26 (6,410) - 

 Investments in intangible assets 16 (6,258) (1,697) 

 Investments in tangible fixed assets 15 (3,807) (23,333) 

 Cash flow from investing activities  (16,475) (25,030) 

     
 Cash flow from financing activities  32   

 Borrowings  - - 

 Amortisation of loans  - - 

 Bond repurchase  (92,700) - 

 Lease liabilities paid  (67,201) (68,305) 

 Transaction costs – loans  (180) (900) 

 Shareholder contributions received  - - 

 Deposits paid  (3,795) (226) 

 Cash flow from financing activities  (163,876) (69,430) 

     
 Increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents  21,377 76,215 

 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  239,681 168,358 

 Exchange differences in cash and cash equivalents  (4,977) (4,892) 

 Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  256,081 239,681 
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1.1 General information 

SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ), corporate identity number 559109-9154, is a limited company registered in Sweden, with 

registered office in Stockholm. The head office address is SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ), c/o Logent AB, Hammarby Kaj 14, 120 

30 Stockholm. The operations of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries consist of logistics services.  

Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts are reported in thousands of Swedish kronor (SEK). 

The Board of Directors approved these consolidated financial statements for publication on 22 April 2022. 

1.2 Summary of significant accounting principles 

This note contains a list of the key accounting principles that have been applied in the preparation of these consolidated 

financial statements. Unless otherwise stated, these principles have been applied consistently for all years reported. The 

consolidated financial statements include the legal Parent Company SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ) and its subsidiaries. 

1.3 Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act, RFR 1 

Supplementary Reporting Rules for Groups, as well as the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the 

interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) as adopted by the EU. The Parent Company was formed on 24 

April 2017 and was a shelf company without operations until the Parent Company acquired the Entlog Holding AB Group on 28 

June 2019. The acquisition of the Entlog Holding AB Group on 28 June 2019 was the starting point for the Group’s operations 

and thus also the Group’s first financial year. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 

historical cost convention.  

The preparation of reports in accordance with IFRS requires the use of some important estimations for accounting purposes. It 

also requires that Management makes certain assessments when applying the Group’s accounting principles. The areas that 

involve a high degree of assessment, which are complex, or such areas where estimates and assumptions are of significant 

importance for the consolidated financial statements, are stated in Note 1.24 Significant estimates and assumptions for 

accounting purposes.  

For information on the cases in which the Parent Company applies accounting principles other than those of the Group, please 

refer to Note 1 in the Parent Company’s notes.  

1.4 New and amended standards not yet applied by the Group 

No new standards, interpretations or changes that came into force 1 January 2021 have had any impact on the Group’s financial 

reports.  

 

1.5 Consolidated financial statements 

a) Subsidiaries  

Subsidiaries are all companies over which the Group has controlling influence. The Group controls a company when it is 

exposed to or is entitled to a variable return from its holding in the company and has the ability to influence the return through 

its influence in the company. Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which the 

controlling influence is transferred to the Group. They are excluded from the consolidated financial statements from the date 

on which the controlling influence ceases. 

The acquisition method is used for reporting the Group’s business combinations. The purchase consideration for the acquisition 

of a subsidiary consists of the fair value of transferred assets and liabilities that the Group incurs to the previous owner of the 

acquired company. The purchase consideration also includes the fair value of all assets and liabilities that result from an 

agreement on conditional purchase consideration. Identifiable acquired assets and assumed liabilities in a business 

combination are initially valued at fair values on the date of acquisition. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

1. Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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Intra-group transactions, balance sheet items and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between group companies are 

eliminated. The accounting principles for subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to ensure consistent application of 

the Group’s principles. 

1.6 Segment reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting submitted to the chief executive decision 

maker. The CEO is the chief executive decision maker for the Group and assesses the Group’s financial position and 

performance as well as making strategic decisions. Together with the Board of Directors, the CEO has determined the 

operating segments based on the information processed by the CEO and used as the basis for allocating resources and 

evaluating performance.  

During quarter 4 the Group changed the segmentation of its operations from 2 to 3 reportable segments. The new 

segmentation is comprised of Logistics Operations, Logistics Services and Staffing. Logistics Operations consists of a merger of 

the operating segments Warehousing and Ports. These operating segments have similar financial characteristics in the form of 

similar customers and services and are managed by the same manager. Logistics Services consists of a merger of the 

operating segments Transport Management and Customs. These operating segments are also considered to have similar 

financial characteristics in that the customers are similar and the services are often closely related. The third segment, Staffing, 

consists of the operating segments Staffing Sweden and Staffing Norway. These are considered to have similar financial 

characteristics as the service is the same in both operating segments and the customers are of a similar nature. It is the 

assessment of Management that the new segmentation is consistent with IFRS regulations for segment reporting.  

1.7 Translation of foreign currencies 

(i) Functional currency and presentation currency 

The various entities in the Group have their local currency as the functional currency, as the local currency has been defined as 

the currency used in the primary economic environment in which each entity mainly operates. The consolidated financial 

statements use Swedish kronor (SEK), which is the Parent Company’s functional currency and the Group’s presentation 

currency. 

(ii) Transactions and balance sheet items 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency in accordance with the exchange rates applicable 

on the transaction date. Exchange gains and losses arising from the payment of such transactions and from the translation of 

monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies at the rate on the balance sheet date are recognised in operating income in 

the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

Exchange gains and losses attributable to loans and cash equivalents are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income as financial income or financial expenses. All other exchange gains and losses are recognised under other operating 

expenses or other operating income in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

(iii) Translation of foreign group companies 

The financial performance and position of all group companies with a functional currency other than the presentation currency 

are translated into the Group’s presentation currency. Assets and liabilities for each of the balance sheets are translated from 

the functional currency of the foreign operation to the Group’s presentation currency, Swedish kronor (SEK), at the exchange 

rate on the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses for each of the income statements are translated into Swedish kronor 

(SEK) at the average rate that existed at each transaction date. Translation differences arising from currency translation of 

foreign operations are recognised in other comprehensive income. Accumulated gains and losses are recognised in the net 

profit/loss for the period when the foreign operation is divested in whole or in part.  

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of this 

operation and are translated at the rate on the balance sheet date. 
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1.8 Revenue recognition  

The Group’s principles for reporting revenue from contracts with customers are set out below. 

Revenues are recognised when the Group has fulfilled its performance commitment, which occurs when the customer has 

gained control of the product or service. The Group’s revenues essentially consist of sales of services and the Group’s major 

revenue streams consist of Warehousing, Ports, Transport Management and Staffing. 

(i) Sales of services 

Warehousing, Ports and Transport Management 

Services within the Warehousing revenue stream essentially consist of outsourcing activities linked to warehousing. Services 

within the Ports revenue stream essentially consist of different types of stevedoring services, such as cargo handling as well as 

loading and unloading of vessels. Services within the Transport Management revenue stream essentially consist of services 

linked to various transport management solutions and expertise. Within these revenue streams, there is a performance 

commitment when the services performed comprise a series of distinct services with the same pattern for transfer to the 

customer. 

Staffing 

Services within the Staffing revenue stream essentially consist of providing temporary staff to warehouses. There is a distinct 

performance commitment within this revenue stream. 

For all revenue streams (Warehousing, Ports, Transport Management and Staffing), revenues are recognised over time, as 

customers simultaneously receive and use the benefits provided through the Group’s performance when a commitment is 

fulfilled. Revenues are recognised in the period in which they are provided. 

The transaction price in most of the contracts is based on a fixed rate per hour or unit. Revenues for these are measured based 

on what the Group is entitled to invoice. In cases where the Group’s efforts are used evenly during the earnings period, 

revenues are recognised according to a straight-line method. 

There is also variable compensation in the form of volume discounts, which means that, if the volume increases, the price 

decreases in the future for the additional units that are purchased. Historical data is used to estimate the expected value of the 

discounts, and revenues are only recognised to the extent that it is very probable that a material reversal will not arise. There is 

also variable compensation based on performance-based contracts. 

A receivable is recognised once the services have been delivered, as this is the point in time when the compensation becomes 

unconditional (i.e. only the passage of time is required for payment to be made). 

If expenses arising from the performance of a contract do not fall within the scope of any other standard (e.g. IAS 2 Inventories 

or IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment or IAS 38 Intangible Assets), an asset is recognised based on the expenses incurred if 

certain criteria are met. The asset is amortised in a systematic manner compatible with the transfer to the customer of the 

services to which the asset belongs. This period may be the same period as the contract with the specific customer. 

The Group applies customary payment terms. The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the time between the 

delivery of services to the customer and payment from the customer exceeds one year. As a result, the Group does not adjust 

the transaction price for the effects of a significant financing component. 

(iii) Interest income 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. 

1.9 Leases 

The Group acts as both lessee and lessor. The Group’s lease agreements in which the Group is the lessee essentially relate to 

premises, port areas, forklifts and vehicles. The Group’s lease agreements in which the Group is the lessor relate to premises. 

The Group acts as lessee and lessor.  
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Leases – the Group as the lessee 

For all lease agreements, apart from the exceptions mentioned below, a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability 

are recognised on the date when the leased asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated between 

amortisation of debt and financial expense. The financial expense shall be allocated over the lease term so that each 

accounting period is charged with an amount corresponding to a fixed interest rate for the liability reported during each period. 

Right-of-use assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the duration of the 

lease agreement. The majority of the Group’s lease agreements run for periods of 3-5 years, although individual lease 

agreements run for periods of up to 10 years. There are options to extend or terminate the agreements. 

Assets and liabilities arising from lease agreements are initially recognised at present value of future leasing fees. Lease 

liabilities include the present value of the following lease payments: 

• fixed fees  
• variable leasing fees that depend on an index or interest rate 
• residual value guarantees 
• call options (which with reasonable certainty will be exercised) 

Lease payments are discounted with the marginal loan interest rate. 

The right-of-use assets are valued at cost and include the following: 

• the initial valuation of the lease liability and 
• payments made at or before the time when the leased asset is made available to the lessee. 

 

The Group applies the exemption in IFRS 16, which means that leasing fees attributable to short-term lease agreements and 

lease agreements for which the underlying asset has a low value are not recognised as a right-of-use asset and lease liability, 

but as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Short-term lease agreements are agreements with a lease term 

of 12 months or less. Lease agreements for which the underlying asset has a low value essentially relate to office equipment. 

Options to extend or terminate agreements 

Options to extend or terminate agreements are included in the Group’s lease agreements. The terms are used to maximise 

flexibility in the management of the agreements. Options to extend or terminate agreements are included in the asset and the 

liability when it is reasonably certain that they will be exercised. 

Accounting in subsequent periods 

The lease liability is revalued if there are any changes to the lease agreement or if there are changes in the cash flow based on 

the original terms of the agreement. Changes in cash flows based on original agreement terms occur when; the Group changes 

its initial assessment of whether options to extend and/or terminate will be exercised; there are changes to previous 

assessments on whether a call option will be exercised; leasing fees change due to changes in index or interest rate. A 

revaluation of the lease liability leads to a corresponding adjustment of the right-of-use asset. If the carrying amount of the 

right-of-use asset has already been reduced to zero, the remaining revaluation is recognised in the income statement. The 

right-of-use asset is tested for impairment whenever events or changes in conditions indicate that the carrying amount of an 

asset cannot be recovered.  

Presentation  

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are reported on a separate line in the balance sheet. In the income statement, 

amortisation of right-of-use assets is recognised on the line for depreciation and amortisation, while the lease liability interest 

expense is recognised as a financial expense. Leasing fees attributable to lease agreements of low value and short-term lease 

agreements are recognised in the income statement on the line for other external expenses depending on the type of leased 

asset. Repayment of the lease liability is recognised as cash flow from financing activities. Interest payments and payments of 

short-term lease agreements and lease agreements of low value are recognised as cash flow from operating activities. 
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Leases – the Group as the lessor 

Lease agreements where the Group is the lessor relate to the letting of land in port areas, with a maximum term of twelve 

months. 

Leases where a substantial portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating 

leases. Lease payments received during the lease term are recognised as revenue in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 

on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Lease agreements where the financial risks and rewards associated with ownership are essentially transferred from the lessor 

to the lessee are classified as financial leases. At the commencement of the lease term, financial leases are recognised in the 

balance sheet at the lower of the lease object’s fair value and the present value of the minimum leasing fees. 

At present, the Group only holds lease agreements that are classified as operating leases.       

1.10 Current and deferred income tax 

The tax expense for the period includes current tax calculated on the fiscal net profit according to current tax rates. The current 

tax expense is adjusted for the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and 

unutilised deficits. 

The current tax expense is calculated based on the tax rules that are decided, or practically decided, on the balance sheet date 

in the countries in which the Parent Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management regularly 

evaluates the claims made in tax returns regarding situations where applicable tax rules are subject to interpretation. When 

deemed appropriate, Management makes provisions for amounts that are likely to be paid to the taxation authority.  

Deferred tax is recognised on all temporary differences that arise between the taxable value of assets and liabilities and their 

carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, a deferred tax liability is not recognised if it arises as a 

result of the initial recognition of goodwill. Nor is deferred tax recognised if it arises as a result of a transaction constituting the 

initial recognition of an asset or a liability that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, does not 

affect the carried or fiscal profit. Deferred income tax is calculated using tax rates (and laws) that have been decided or 

announced as of the balance sheet date and that are expected to apply when the deferred tax asset in question is realised or 

the deferred tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future fiscal surpluses will be available, against which 

the temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is legal right of offset for the current tax assets and tax liabilities and 

when the deferred tax assets and tax liabilities relate to taxes charged by the same taxation authority and relate to either the 

same taxable entity or different taxable entities, where there is an intention to settle the balances through net payment. 

Current and deferred tax is reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, except when the tax relates to items 

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In such cases, the tax is also recognised in other 

comprehensive income and equity. 

1.11 Intangible assets 

1.11.1 Goodwill 

Goodwill arises from the acquisition of a subsidiary and refers to the amount by which the purchase consideration, any non-

controlling interest in the acquired company, and fair value as of the acquisition date of the previous equity interest in the 

acquired company exceeds the fair value of identifiable acquired net assets.  

In order to test impairment requirements, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to cash-generating units or 

groups of cash-generating units expected to benefit from synergies from the acquisition. Each unit or group of units to which 

goodwill has been allocated corresponds to the lowest level in the Group at which the goodwill in question is monitored in 

internal control. Goodwill is monitored based on operating segment. 
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1.11.2 Customer relationships 

Customer relationships acquired as part of a business combination are recognised at fair value at the date of acquisition and 

are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life. The estimated useful life amounts to 9 years on average, 

which corresponds to the estimated period during which the assets will generate cash flow. 

1.11.3 Trademarks 

Trademarks acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The Group’s strategy is to 

retain acquired company trademarks because they are deemed to be a driver of future sales and as long as the trademarks are 

used, maintained and invested in, they are deemed to have an indefinite useful life and are recognised at acquisition cost and 

tested for impairment annually. 

1.11.4 Other intangible assets 

Other intangible assets essentially comprise capitalised development expenses. The Group regularly assesses whether 

internally accrued intangible assets, such as capitalised development expenditures and internally updated expenditures for 

administrative systems significantly adapted to the Group’s operations, can be capitalised.  

The following criteria must be met in order to capitalise internally accrued intangible assets: 
• it is technically feasible to complete the internally accrued intangible asset so that it can be utilised, 
• the Company’s intention is to complete the internally accrued intangible asset and to utilise or sell it, 
• there are conditions that allow the sale or utilisation of the internally accrued intangible asset, 
• it can be shown how the internally accrued intangible asset generates probable future economic benefits, 
• there are adequate technical, financial and other resources in place to complete the development and to utilise or 

sell the internally accrued intangible asset, and the expenditures attributable to the internally accrued intangible 
asset during its development can be reliably calculated. 

 

Other development expenditures, which do not meet these criteria, are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures that 

were previously expensed are not recognised as an asset in the subsequent period. 

Capitalised development expenditures recognised as intangible assets are amortised from the date when the asset is ready for 

use. Capitalised development expenditures are amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life, which is 3-10 

years. 

1.12 Tangible fixed assets 

Tangible fixed assets primarily include machinery and other technical facilities, equipment, tools and fixtures and fittings. 

Tangible fixed assets are recognised at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  

Subsequent expenditures are added to the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, whichever is 

appropriate, only when it is likely that the future economic benefits associated with the asset will accrue to the Group and the 

asset’s historical cost can be reliably measured. The carrying amount of the replaced part is removed from the balance sheet. 

All other forms of repairs and maintenance are recognised as expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income during the 

period in which they arise. 

In order to break their historical cost down to the estimated residual value over the estimated useful life, depreciation of assets 

is made on a straight-line basis as follows: 

• Buildings 10-40 years 
• Land is not depreciated. 
• Improvements to leased property 3-10 years 
• Machinery and other technical facilities 3-10 years 
• Equipment, tools and fixtures and fittings 3-5 years 

Residual value and useful life of the assets are tested at the end of each reporting period and adjusted as needed. 

The carrying amount of an asset is immediately impaired to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 

estimated recoverable amount. 
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Gains and losses on disposal are determined through a comparison of the sales proceeds and the carrying amount and are 

reported on a net basis in other operating income or other operating expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

1.13 Impairment of non-financial assets 

Goodwill with an indefinite useful life or intangible assets that are not completed for use are not amortised but are tested 

annually, or upon indication of impairment, for any impairment requirements. Assets that are amortised are assessed in terms of 

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 

impairment is made with the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 

amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less selling expenses and its value in use. When assessing impairment 

requirements, assets are grouped at the lowest levels at which there are essentially independent cash flows (cash-generating 

units). For assets (other than goodwill) that have previously been impaired, a test is done as of each balance sheet date to 

determine whether reversal should be performed. 

 

1.14 Financial instruments  
 
a) Initial recognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual terms of the 

instrument. Purchases and sales of financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date on which the 

Group commits to buying or selling the asset. 

At initial recognition, financial instruments are recognised at fair value, plus, for an asset or financial liability that is not 

recognised at fair value in the income statement, transaction costs directly attributable to an acquisition or issue of a financial 

asset or financial liability, such as fees and commissions.  

b) Financial assets – Classification and valuation 

The Group classifies and values its financial assets in the category financial assets recognised at amortised cost. 

c) Financial assets at amortised cost 

The classification of investments in debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing financial assets 

and the contractual terms for the cash flow of the assets. The Group only reclassifies debt instruments when the Group’s 

business model for such instruments changes. 

Assets held with the purpose of collecting contractual cash flows, and where these cash flows only consist of principal and 

interest, are recognised at amortised cost. Interest income from such financial assets is recognised as financial income using 

the effective interest method.  

The Group’s financial assets valued at amortised cost consist of the items other non-current receivables, accounts receivable, 

accrued income and cash and cash equivalents.   

d) Derecognition of financial assets 

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date on which the Group commits to buying or 

selling the asset. Financial assets are derecognised from the balance sheet when the right to obtain cash flows from the 

instrument has expired or been transferred and the Group has essentially transferred all risks and benefits associated with the 

right of ownership. 

e) Financial liabilities – Classification and valuation 

After initial recognition, the Group’s financial liabilities are valued at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  

The Group’s financial liabilities valued at amortised cost consist of the items bond loans, loans to shareholders, accounts 

payable, part of other liabilities and part of accrued expenses. 
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f) Derecognition of financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are derecognised from the balance sheet once the obligations are settled, cancelled or otherwise cease. 

The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party 

and the compensation paid, including transferred assets that are not cash or assumed liabilities, is recognised in the Statement 

of Comprehensive Income.  

When the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated, and the liability is not derecognised from the balance sheet, a gain or 

loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The gain or loss is calculated as the difference between the 

original contractual cash flows and the modified cash flows discounted to the original effective interest rate. 

g) Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are only offset and recognised with a net amount in the balance sheet when there is a legal right 

to offset the recognised amounts and an intention to settle them with a net amount or simultaneously sell the asset and settle 

the liability. The legal right must not depend on future events and must be legally binding for the Company and the 

counterparty, both in the normal course of business and in the event of suspension of payments, insolvency or bankruptcy. 

h) Impairment of financial assets recognised at amortised cost 

The Group assesses the expected credit losses that are linked to assets recognised at amortised cost. The Group recognises a 

credit reserve for such expected credit losses on each reporting date.  

For accounts receivable, the Group applies the simplified approach using the matrix model for credit reserves, i.e. the reserve 

will correspond to the expected loss over the entire life of the accounts receivable. To measure the expected credit losses, 

accounts receivable have been grouped based on distributed credit risk characteristics and overdue dates.  

The Group uses prospective variables for expected credit losses. Expected credit losses are recognised in the Consolidated 

Statement of Comprehensive Income, in the item other external expenses.   

1.15 Inventories 

Inventories are recognised at the lower of historical cost and net realisable value. Historical cost consists of direct costs of 

materials, direct salary expenses and attributable indirect production costs (based on normal production capacity). Borrowing 

costs are not included. Historical cost of individual inventory items is allocated based on weighted average costs. Historical 

cost of goods for resale is determined after deductions for discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated sales price in 

operating activities, less applicable variable selling expenses. 

1.16 Accounts receivable 

Accounts receivable are amounts attributable to customers in respect of goods or services sold that are carried out in 

operating activities. Accounts receivable are initially recognised at fair value (transaction price). The Group holds accounts 

receivable for the purpose of collecting contractual cash flows and therefore values accounts receivable on subsequent 

reporting dates at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less reserves for expected credit losses. 

1.17 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include bank account balances in both the balance sheet and the Statement of Cash Flows. 

1.18 Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Mandatory redeemable preference shares are classified as liabilities. Other preference 

shares are classified as equity.   

1.19 Borrowings 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs. Borrowings are then subsequently recognised at 

amortised cost, and any difference between the amount received (net of transaction costs) and the repayment amount is 

recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income distributed over the loan term using the effective interest method.  

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet once the obligations are settled, cancelled or otherwise cease. The difference 

between the carrying amount of a financial liability (or portion of a financial liability) that has been extinguished or transferred to 
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another party and the compensation paid, including transferred assets that are not cash or assumed liabilities, is recognised in 

the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer payment of the debt for at 

least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  

 

1.20 Provisions 

Provisions for restructuring, legal claims, guarantee commitments and restoration measures are recognised when the Group 

has a legal or informal duty as a result of previous events, when it is likely that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 

the obligation, and when the amount has been reliably calculated. No provisions are made for future operating losses. 

If there are multiple similar obligations, the likelihood of an outflow of resources being required in the settlement process is 

assessed for the entire group of obligations. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow regarding a particular 

item in this group of obligations is low. 

Provisions are valued at the present value of the amount expected to be required to settle the obligation. In this case, a 

discount rate before tax is used which reflects a current market assessment of the time-dependent value of money and the 

risks associated with the provision. The increase in the provision that depends on time elapsing is recognised as an interest 

expense. 

There are no provisions as of 31 December 2021. 

1.21 Employee benefits 

1.21.1 Short-term employee benefits 

Liabilities for salaries and remuneration, including non-monetary benefits and paid absence, which are expected to be settled 

within 12 months after the end of the financial year, are recognised as current liabilities at the undiscounted amount expected 

to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The expense is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as the 

services are performed by the employees. The liability is recognised as an obligation in respect of employee benefits in the 

consolidated balance sheet. 

1.21.2 Pension obligations 

The Group has both defined contribution and defined benefit pension plans (ITP 2). A defined contribution pension plan is a 

pension plan according to which the Company pays fixed fees to a separate legal entity. The Group has no legal or informal 

obligation to pay additional fees if this legal entity does not have sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits related to the 

employee service during the current or previous periods. Fees are recognised as personnel expenses in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income when they are due for payment. 

Pension commitments for Swedish white-collar workers secured through insurance with Alecta are recognised as a defined 

contribution plan. According to a statement from the Swedish Financial Reporting Board, UFR 10 Reporting pension plan ITP 2, 

which is financed through insurance from Alecta, this is a defined benefit plan that encompasses several employers. For the 

2021 financial year, the Group did not have access to the information required to recognise its proportionate share of the plan’s 

obligations, plan assets and expenses, which has made it impossible to recognise this plan as a defined benefit plan. The ITP 2 

pension plan which is secured through insurance from Alecta is therefore recognised as a defined contribution plan. Premiums 

for the defined benefit old age and family pension plan are calculated individually taking into account salary, previously earned 

pension and anticipated remaining employment period. Anticipated fees for the next reporting period for ITP 2 insurance that 

are covered by Alecta amount to SEK 508 thousand (469).   

The collective consolidation level is made up of the market value of Alecta’s assets as a percentage of the insurance 

obligations calculated in accordance with Alecta’s insurance methods and assumptions, which are not in accordance with IAS 

19.  The collective consolidation level is normally permitted to vary between 125 and 155 percent. If Alecta’s collective 

consolidation level is less than 125 percent or exceeds 155 percent, measures must be taken in order to create conditions for 
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returning the consolidation level to the normal range. If consolidation is low, one measure may be to raise the agreed price for 

new subscriptions and expanding existing benefits. If consolidation is high, one measure may be to implement premium 

reductions. At the end of the 2021 financial year, Alecta’s surplus in the form of the collective consolidation level preliminarily 

amounted to 172 percent. 

1.22 Accounts payable 

Accounts payable are financial instruments and relate to obligations to pay for goods and services acquired from suppliers in 

the normal course of business. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if they fall due within one year. Otherwise, 

they are recognised as non-current liabilities.  

Accounts payable are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 

1.23 Cash flow statement 

The cash flow statement has been prepared in accordance with the indirect method. The reported cash flow only includes 

transactions involving inflows and outflows of cash. 

1.24 Significant estimates and assumptions for accounting purposes 

The Group makes estimates and assumptions about the future. The estimates for accounting purposes that result from these 

will, by definition, rarely equate to the actual outcome. The estimates and assumptions that entail a significant risk of material 

adjustments in the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the next financial year are outlined below. 

(a) Testing of impairment requirements for goodwill 

Every year, the Group examines whether there are any impairment requirements for goodwill in accordance with the 

accounting principle described in Note 16. Recoverable amounts for cash-generating units have been determined by 

calculating the value in use. For these calculations, certain assumptions must be made, of which the most important 

assumptions are those of discount rate and long-term growth rate. The carrying amount of goodwill amounts to SEK 946,853 

thousand as of 31 December 2021 (SEK 940,939 thousand as of 31 December 2020). The recoverable amount exceeds the 

carrying amount of goodwill with good margin.  

b) Valuation of loss carryforwards 

The Group has recognised deferred tax assets relating to tax loss carryforwards. The tax loss carryforwards have no final date 

for utilisation. A deferred tax asset is only recognised for loss carryforwards which are likely to be able to be utilised against 

future taxable surpluses and against taxable temporary differences.  The Group recognises deferred tax assets relating to tax 

loss carryforwards amounting to SEK 0 thousand as of 31 December 2021 (SEK 0 thousand as of 31 December 2020), which can 

be utilised against future taxable profits. 

c) Duration of the lease agreement 

When determining the duration of the lease, all available information that provides a financial incentive to exercise an extension 

option or to not exercise an option to terminate an agreement is taken into consideration. In the case of lease agreements 

relating to the letting of premises, the following factors are usually most important in determining the duration of the lease 

agreement: 

• If the agreement contains significant fees for terminating the agreement (or to not extend it), the Group normally 
considers that renewal is reasonably certain. 

• Other factors, including historical leasing period, and the costs and disruptions of operations required to replace the 
leased asset. 

The majority of the extension options relating to letting of premises have not been included in the lease liability as the Group 

can replace the asset without significant costs or disruptions to operations. 
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1.25 Government grants 

Government grants were received during 2021. The following accounting principle has been applied when reporting these: 

Government grants are financial contributions from government agencies that are received in exchange for the Group fulfilling 

certain set conditions. All grants received are attributable to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. A government grant is 

not recognised in the balance sheet or income statement until there is a reasonable assurance that the conditions associated 

with the grant will be met and the grant will be received. The grant is presented as prepaid income in the balance sheet and is 

deducted when reporting corresponding costs so that they match the cost that the grant intends to cover in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income. 

 

 

2. Financial risk management   
 
2.1 Financial risk factors 
Through its operations, the Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks, including: various market risks (currency risk and 
interest rate risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and refinancing risk. The Group strives to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
Group’s financial performance.  The objectives of the Group’s financial operations are to: 

• ensure that the Group can fulfil its payment obligations, 
• manage financial risks, 
• ensure access to necessary financing, and 
• optimise the Group’s net financial income. 

 
The Group’s risk management is handled by a central finance department that identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in 
close collaboration with the Group’s operational entities. The Group has a financial policy that specifies guidelines and 
frameworks for the Group’s financial operations. Responsibility for managing the Group’s financial transactions and risks is 
centralised to the Parent Company. 
 
(a) Market risks 
 
Currency risk 
The Group is exposed to currency risks arising from various currency exposures, primarily regarding euro (EUR), Norwegian 
kronor (NOK) and Danish kronor (DKK). In the SSCP Lager BidCo AB Group, currency risk arises mainly from cross-border trade, 
where pricing and invoicing are in Swedish kronor (SEK), Norwegian kronor (NOK), euro (EUR) and Danish kronor (DKK). 
 
In addition, currency risk arises from the translation of the income statements and balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries into 
the Group’s presentation currency, which is Swedish kronor (SEK), i.e. translation exposure.  
Foreign net assets 31/12/2021 31/12/2020     

Translation exposure NOK 55,358 42,712     

Translation exposure DKK 866 -     
 
 
The table below shows the Group’s currency exposure attributable to transaction risk based on the items in foreign currency 
(stated in thousands) found in the balance sheet as of 31/12/2021. 
 
Exposure 

                              31/12/2021 

  EUR NOK DKK 
Accounts receivable 778 874 113 

Accounts payable 1,666 1,116 100 
    

 

                              31/12/2020 

  EUR NOK DKK 
Accounts receivable 414 652 40 

Accounts payable 695 1,136 72 
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Sensitivity analysis – transaction exposure 
If the Swedish krona had weakened by 10% relative to SEK/EUR, with all other variables constant, the translated profit or loss 
after tax for the 2021 financial year would have been SEK 906 thousand (2020: SEK 285 thousand) lower, largely as a result of 
losses from the translation of accounts payable. 
 
Sensitivity analysis translation exposure/balance exposure 
The Group has subsidiaries in Norway and Denmark that expose the Group to currency risk when translating their balance 
sheets and income statements, including consolidated surplus values. If the Swedish krona had weakened by 10% relative to 
NOK and DKK, with all other variables constant, the equity as of 31 December 2021 would have been SEK 5,796 thousand 
higher (as of 31 December 2020 SEK 4,078 thousand higher), as a result of translation of the Norwegian and Danish subsidiaries’ 
income statements and balance sheets including consolidated surplus values. 
 
Interest rate risk  
Bond loans consist of borrowing in Swedish kronor (SEK) which is paid at a fixed interest rate and a variable interest rate 
(STIBOR 3M) and exposes the Group to interest rate risk with respect to cash flow. The Group does not hedge its interest rate 
risk regarding future cash flows. Bond loans amount to SEK 810,000 thousand as of 31/12/2021. The Group’s shareholder loans, 
according to agreement, run at a fixed interest rate, and these loans are therefore not exposed to changes in interest rates. For 
further information on the Group’s borrowing, please see Note 25. 
 
Sensitivity analysis 
If the interest rates on borrowing with variable interest rates as of 31 December 2021 would have been 100 basis points 
higher/lower, with all other variables constant, the calculated profit or loss after tax for the financial year would have been SEK 
8,100 thousand lower/higher (as of 31 December 2020 SEK 9,000 thousand lower/higher), mainly as an effect of higher/lower 
interest expenses for borrowing with variable interest rates.  
 
(b) Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from balances with banks and credit institutions, as well as customer credit exposures including outstanding 
receivables. Credit risk is managed by Group Management. Only banks and credit institutions that have received a minimum 
credit rating of “A” from independent assessors are accepted. The Group has no contract assets.  

Credit risk is managed at group level, with the exception of credit risk related to outstanding accounts receivable. Each group 
company is responsible for monitoring and analysing the credit risk of each new customer. In cases where no independent 
credit rating is available, a risk assessment is made of the customer’s credit status, taking into account the customer’s financial 
position as well as past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are determined based on internal or external credit 
ratings in accordance with the limits set by the Board of Directors. The use of credit limits is followed up regularly.  

 
No credit limits were exceeded during the reporting period and Management does not expect any losses as a result of non-
payment from these counterparties. Accounts receivable consist of receivables from a large number of customers, and 
consequently there is no significant concentration of credit risk in relation to only a few customers. The Group’s customer base 
essentially consists of major, well-established companies. Historically, the Group’s credit losses have been insignificant, and the 
customers’ payment history has been good. Taking this into account, as well as forward-looking information about 
macroeconomic factors that may affect the ability of customers to pay their debts, the Group’s expected credit losses have 
also been assessed as insignificant. 
 
(c) Liquidity risk 
Through careful liquidity management, the Group ensures the availability of sufficient cash resources to meet the needs of 
operating activities. At the same time, the Group ensures that it has sufficient limits on agreed credit facilities so that debts can 
be paid when due for payment. Management follows rolling forecasts for the Group’s liquidity reserve (including unutilised 
credit facilities) and cash equivalents based on expected cash flows. Analyses are normally carried out by the operating 
companies, taking into account the guidelines and limitations established by Group Management. Limitations vary between 
different regions, as the liquidity of different markets is taken into account.  

(d) Refinancing risk 
Refinancing risk is defined as the risk that difficulties arise in refinancing the Group, that financing cannot be obtained, or that it 
can only be obtained at increased costs. This risk is mitigated by the Group continuously evaluating various financing solutions.  
 
The below table shows an analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities broken down by the time that, on the balance sheet date, 
remains until the contractual due date. The amounts stated in the table are the contractual, undiscounted cash flows.  
 
 

  



 

SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ)    

 
   

50 
 

SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ)    
Corp. ID No. 559109-9154 

 

As of 31 December 2021 
Less than 3 

months 

Between 3 
months 

and 1 year 
Between 1 
and 2 years 

Between 2 
and 5 years 

 

More than 
5 years 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

Carrying 
amount 

Financial liabilities         

Bond loans 12,426 36,087 48,248 846,219 - 942,981 797,838 

Liabilities to shareholders - - - 477,642 - 477,642 340,700 

Lease liabilities 17,337 51,492 63,363 145,043 11,015 288,249 288,249 

Accounts payable  115,462 - - - - 115,462 115,462 

Part of accrued 
expenses/other liabilities 

23,432 1,740 - - - 25,172 25,172 

Total 168,656 89,319 111,611 1,468,905 11,015 1,849,506 1,567,420 

 

As of 31 December 2020 
Less than 3 

months 

Between 3 
months 

and 1 year 
Between 1 
and 2 years 

Between 2 
and 5 years 

 

More than 
5 years 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

Carrying 
amount 

Financial liabilities         

Bond loans 13,366 40,097 53,903 993,853 - 1,101,219 881,572 

Liabilities to shareholders - - - 477,642 - 477,642 302,377 

Lease liabilities 16,486 49,369 65,074 168,167 38,015 337,111 337,111 

Accounts payable  95,900 - - - - 95,900 95,900 

Part of accrued 
expenses/other liabilities 

16,556 7,247 - - - 23,803 23,803 

Total 142,308 96,713 118,978 1,639,663 38,015 2,035,675 1,640,764 

 

2.2 Calculation and disclosure of fair value  
The different levels of financial instruments valued at fair value are defined as follows: 
 
(a) Level 1 financial instruments. 
Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 
(b) Level 2 financial instruments. 
Observable data for the asset or liability other than quoted prices included in level 1, either directly (i.e. as price quotes) or 
indirectly (i.e. derived from price quotes). 
 
(c) Level 3 financial instruments. 
In cases where one or more significant inputs are not based on observable market information, the instrument concerned is 
classified in level 3. 
 

As of 31/12/2021, the Group has no financial instruments recognised at fair value. 
 
 
2.3 Management of capital  
In terms of capital structure, the Group’s objective is to ensure the Group’s ability to continue its operations so that it can 
continue to generate returns for its shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure to keep the cost of capital down. 
 
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may change the dividend paid to shareholders, repay capital to the 
shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt taking into account the restrictions set out in the bond agreement. 
 
The Group assesses its capital on the basis of the debt/equity ratio. This key ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total 
capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (comprising the item bond loans) less cash and cash equivalents. Total 
capital is calculated as equity in the Consolidated Balance Sheet plus net debt. 
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The Group’s strategy is to maintain a balanced capital structure, continuously monitoring the D/E ratio based on the Group’s 
need for the capital debt/equity ratio per respective accounting year as follows: 

 

 

 

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Total borrowings 810,000 900,000 

Less: cash and cash equivalents (256,081) (239,681) 

Net debt 553,919 660,319 

Total equity 359,908 383,221 

Total capital 913,827 1,043,540 

    

Debt/equity ratio 61% 63%  

 

3. Segment information 

Three reportable segments – Logistics Operations, Logistics Services and Staffing – have been identified within the Group:   

Logistics Operations 

Contract logistics solutions related to dedicated warehousing and port solutions. 

Logistics Services 

Contract logistics solutions related to dedicated transport management and customs solutions. 

Staffing 

Staffing solutions related to logistics for managing volume fluctuations. Both external and internal staffing as well as 

recruitment services. 

Other 

The item Other consists of expenses that have not been allocated to the segments. 

 

The Chief Executive Officer mainly uses adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (Adjusted 

EBITDA, please see below) in the assessment of the operating segments’ earnings, excluding the effect of IFRS 16 (please see 

Notes 4 and 5). 

Adjusted EBITDA excluding the effect of IFRS 16   

 1 Jan-31 Dec 2021 1 Jan-31 Dec 2020 

Logistics Operations 127,724 108,069 

Logistics Services 25,358 20,017 

Staffing 19,654 24,734 

Other 245 (526) 

Total Adjusted EBITDA excluding the effect of IFRS 16 172,981 152,294 
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The table below shows a reconciliation of consolidated earnings before tax and EBITDA. 

 
 1 Jan-31 Dec 2021 1 Jan-31 Dec 2020 

Total Adjusted EBITDA excluding the effect of IFRS 16 172,981 152,294 

Reversal adjustments for items affecting comparability (Note 4) - 150 

Reversal effect of IFRS 16, excluding depreciation (Note 5) 74,402 76,441 

Total EBITDA 247,383 228,885 

Depreciation and amortisation of tangible, intangible and right-of-use 

assets 

(146,734) (148,470) 

Financial items – net (117,016) (103,672) 

Profit/loss before tax (16,367) (23,258) 

 

  1 Jan-31 Dec 2021 1 Jan-31 Dec 2020 

Acquisition-related expenses   - (150) 

Total adjustments for items affecting comparability  - (150) 

 

  1 Jan-31 Dec 2021 1 Jan-31 Dec 2020 

Other external expenses  74,474 76,486 

Other operating expenses  (72) (45) 

Depreciation  (69,577) (71,559) 

Total effect on EBIT from IFRS 16 

 

 4,825 4,882 

    

Effect on EBITDA  74,402 76,441 

Effect on EBITA  4,825 4,882 

    

  31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Current lease liabilities  68,831 65,855 

Non-current lease liabilities  219,418 271,256 

Total lease liabilities  288,249 337,111 

 

Breakdown of income from contracts with customers 

Income from contracts with customers essentially consists of sales of services. The Group’s income from contracts with 

customers is divided into the categories described below. Most of the Group’s income is recognised over time. 

4.  Adjustments for items affecting comparability in segment information (Note 3) 

 

 

 

 

 

5.  Effect of IFRS 16 on segment information (Note 3) 

 

 

 

 

 

6.  Net sales 

The Group has reported the following amounts in the Statement of Comprehensive Income attributable to income: 
   
 1 Jan-31 Dec 2021 1 Jan-31 Dec 2020 
Income from contracts with customers 1,905,376 1,455,124 
Other income 1,065 1,143 
Total income 1,906,441 1,456,267 
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2021 Logistics 
Operations 

Logistics 
Services Staffing Other Total 

 
Income by segment 985,729 493,191 623,746 181,581 2,284,247  

Elimination (income from other segments)  (7,264) (190,026) (181,581) (378,871)  

Income from external customers 985,729 485,927 433,720 - 1,905,376  

Income from external customers broken 
down by category            

Logistics Operations 985,729    985,729  

Transport Management  452,087   452,087  

Customs  33,840   33,840  

Staffing   433,720  433,720  

Other         -  

Total 985,729 485,927 433,720 - 1,905,376  

 
The Group has one customer that accounts for more than 10% of the total net sales. The income from this customer is 
attributable to the Logistics Operations segment and amounted to SEK 350,008 thousand in 2021. In 2020 the Group had one 
customer that accounted for more than 10% of the total net sales. The income from this customer is attributable to the Logistics 
Operations segment and amounted to SEK 164,843 thousand. 
 

2020 
Logistics 

Operations 
Logistics 
Services Staffing Other Total 

 
Income by segment 770,443 378,426 333,365 185,199 1,667,433  

Elimination (income from other segments)  (6,950) (20,160) (185,199) (212,309)  

Income from external customers  770,443 371,476 313,205 - 1,455,124  

Income from external customers broken 
down by category            

Logistics Operations 770,443    770,443  

Transport Management  345,773   345,773  

Customs  25,703   25,703  

Staffing   313,205  313,205  

Other         -  

Total 770,443 371,476 313,205 - 1,455,124  

 

Income from external customers broken down by country, based on where the 

customers are located: 

 

1 Jan-31 Dec 
2021 

1 Jan-31 Dec 
2020 

Sweden 1,545,021 1,214,271 

Norway 357,516 240,853 

Denmark 2,839 - 

Total  1,905,376 1,455,124 
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Fixed assets and other non-financial assets are broken down by country as follows: 

 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 
Sweden 
 

1,822,139 1,931,821 

Norway 
  

2,336 4,068 

Denmark 6,274 - 

Total 1,830,749 1,935,889 

 

7. Remuneration to auditors   
 

Remuneration to auditors 
1 Jan-31 Dec 

2021 
1 Jan-31 Dec 

2020 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AB   
– Audit fees 1,811 1,220 

– Other audit services and consultation 443 775 

Total 2,254 1,995 

 

8. Employee benefits, etc. 
  1 Jan-31 Dec 

2021 
1 Jan-31 Dec 

2020 
Salaries and other remuneration 903,549 639,755 

Social security contributions 218,705 168,553 

Pension costs – defined contribution plans 43,526 34,125 

Total employee benefits 1,165,780 842,433 

 
Salaries and other remuneration and social security expenses 
 1 January-31 December 2021 1 January-31 December 2020 
 

Salaries and 
other 

remuneration 
(of which 
bonuses)  

Social security 
expenses (of 

which pension 
costs) 

Salaries and 
other 

remuneration 
(of which 
bonuses)  

Social security 
expenses (of 

which pension 
costs) 

Directors, Chief Executive Officers and other 
senior management 

14,725 
(0) 

8,242 
(3,334) 

15,618 
(0) 

9,360 
(3,604) 

Other employees 888,824 
(0) 

253,989 
(40,192) 

624,137 
(0) 

193,319 
(30,521) 

Group total 903,549 
(0) 

262,231 
(43,526) 

639,755 
(0) 

 

202,678 
(34,125) 
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Remuneration and other benefits 2021 

 
Basic salary/ 

Variable 
remuneration 

Other 
benefits 

Pension 
costs Total Directors’ 

fees 

Chairman of the Board – Dario 
Aganovic 150 - - -  150 

 
Board member – Kurt Liljergren 150 - - - 150 

 
 

Board member – Andrea Gisle Joosen 150 - - - 150  
    -   

CEO – Mats Steen 3,583 - 145 641 4,369  

Other senior executives 
10,692 - 750 2,693 14,135 

 

(10 people)  

Total 14,725  -           895  3,334 18,954   

 
 
 
 
Remuneration and other benefits 2020 

 
Basic salary/ 

Variable 
remuneration 

Other 
benefits 

Pension 
costs Total Directors’ 

fees 

Chairman of the Board – Dario 
Aganovic 150 - -  -  150 

 
Board member – Kurt Liljergren 150 - - - 150 

 
 

Board member – Andrea Gisle Joosen 150 - - - 150  
       

CEO – Mats Steen 3,570 - 127 594 4,291  

Other senior executives 
10,901          697  697  3,010 15,294 

 

(10 people)  

Total 14,921 697 814  3,604  20,036  

 
Other benefits relate to company car, health benefits and travel-related benefits (allowances for bicycle, fuel and congestion 
tax). 
 
Other senior executives are the members of the Group’s management team. 
 
Severance pay 
The CEO and Logent have a mutual notice period of 6 months. In addition, the CEO is entitled to receive severance pay 
equivalent to 18 monthly salaries if terminated by Logent. Other senior executives have notice periods of 3-6 months if they 
resign their positions, and 3-12 months if terminated by Logent. Senior executives are subject to a non-competition undertaking 
for a period of 12-18 months after they have sold their shares in Logent. 
 
Average number of employees with geographical breakdown by country 

 
 1 January-31 December 

2021 
1 January-31 December 

2020 
 Average 

number of 
employees 

Of which 
male 

Average 
number of 

employees 
Of which 

male 
Sweden  1,980 1,497 1,422 1,071 
Norway 633 415 431 281 
Denmark 8 3 - - 

Group total 2,621 1,915 1,853 1,352 
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Gender breakdown in the Group (incl. subsidiaries) for board members and other senior executives 

  1 January-31 December 
2021 

1 January-31 December 
2020 

 
Number on 

balance 
sheet date  

 
Of which 

male 

Number on 
balance 

sheet date  

 
Of which 

male 
Board members 4 3 4 3 

Chief Executive Officer and other 
senior executives 

11 9 11 9 

Group total 15 12 15 12 

9. Other operating income 

  1 January-31 
December 2021 

1 January-31 
December 2020 

Realised exchange gains 1,065 1,143 

Total 1,065 1,143 

 

10. Other operating expenses 

  1 January-31 
December 2021 

1 January-31 
December 2020 

Realised exchange losses 1,545 1,289 

Loss on disposal of tangible/intangible fixed assets 72 53 

Total 1,616 1,342 

 
 

11. Financial income and financial expenses 

  1 January-31 
December 2020 

1 January-31 
December 2020 

Interest income 511 311 

Total financial income 511 311 

   

Interest expenses, loans 89,202 88,894 

Interest expenses, lease liabilities 7,438 8,459 

Other interest expenses 10,607 6,121 

Exchange differences 10,282 509 

Total financial expenses 117,528 103,983 

   

Financial items – net (117,016) (103,672) 

 
  



 

SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ)    

 
   

57 
 

SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ)    
Corp. ID No. 559109-9154 

 

12. Income tax   
  1 January-31 

December 2021 
1 January-31 

December 2020 
Current tax:   

Current tax on profit/loss for the year (18,311) (15,603) 

Adjustments for previous years - - 

Total current tax (18,311) (15,603) 

   
Deferred tax (Note 27)   

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (4,337) (3,893) 

Regarding consolidated surplus values 12,847 18,010 

Total deferred tax 8,509 14,117 

   
Total income tax (9,802) (1,485) 

 
The income tax on the Group’s profit or loss before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would have 
been obtained using the Swedish tax rate for profits/losses in the consolidated companies as follows: 

  1 January-31 
December 2021 

1 January-31 
December 2020 

Profit/loss before tax (16,367) (23,258) 

Income tax calculated according to tax rate in Sweden (2020: 21.4%, 2021: 
20.6%) 

3,372 4,977 

Tax effects of:   

Non-taxable income - - 

Non-deductible expenses  (357) (203) 

Utilisation of previous years’ carryforwards 304 2,190 

Temporary differences in depreciation (621) 4,364 

Non-deductible interest (net) (12,261) (12,444) 

Unrecognised tax on profit/loss for the year 33 (319) 

Other (272) (50) 

Income tax (9,802) (1,485) 

 
Weighted average tax rate for the Group was -59.9% (2020: -6.4%) 
 
In 2018 it was decided that the corporate tax rate in Sweden would be reduced to 20.6 percent from the financial year 
beginning on 1 January 2021. 
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13. Exchange differences – net 
Exchange differences have been recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as follows:  

  1 January-31 

December 2021 

1 January-31 

December 2020 

Other operating income (Note 9) 1,065 1,143 

Other operating expenses (Note 10) 

 

(1,545) (1,289) 

Financial items – net (Note 11) (10,282) (509) 

Total (10,761) (655) 
 

14. Investments in subsidiaries 
The Group had the following subsidiaries as of 31 December 2021: 

Name 

Country of 
incorporation and 

operation Business activity 

Percentage of 
ordinary shares 

directly owned by 
the Parent 

Company (%) 

Percentage of 
ordinary shares 
owned by the 

Group (%) 
Entlog Holding AB 556946-9389, Sweden Holding 100% 100% 

Logent Holding AB 556946-9405, Sweden Holding 0% 100% 
Logent AB 556634-4429, Sweden Contract Logistics/Staffing 0% 100% 
Logent Bemanning AB 559041-6714, Sweden Staffing 0% 100% 
Logent Consulting AB 556749-4702, Sweden Contract Logistics 0% 100% 
Logent Ports & Terminals AB 556785-6322, Sweden Contract Logistics 0% 100% 
Logent AS 911 632 519, Norway Contract Logistics/Staffing 0% 100% 
Logent Transport Management AB 556763-9413, Sweden Contract Logistics 0% 100% 

Logent Customs AB 556794-2056, Sweden Contract Logistics 0% 100% 
Logent 3PL-Consulting AB 556694-1752, Sweden Dormant 0% 100% 
Logistikhögskolan Supply Chain Institute AB  556401-3638, Sweden Dormant 0% 100% 

Logent Resurs AB 556022-2514, Sweden Dormant 0% 100% 
Logent Terminal AB 556810-1371, Sweden Dormant 0% 100% 
Logent Automotive Logistics AB 556871-9222, Sweden Contract Logistics 0% 100% 
Logent Produksjon AS 999 588 093, Norway Contract Logistics 0% 100% 

Dan Spedition A/S 34714045, Denmark Contract Logistics 0% 100% 
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15. Tangible fixed assets 

Financial year 1 January – 
31 December 2021 

Buildings and 
land 

Improvements 
to leased 
property 

Machinery and 
other technical 

facilities 

Equipment, tools 
and fixtures and 

fittings Total 
Opening carrying amount 3,994 1,596 17,726 13,390 36,706 

Exchange differences - - - 32 32 

Reclassification - - - - - 

Purchases for the year - - 3,278 529 3,807 

Added through business 
combination (Note 26) - - - 19 19 

Divestments and disposals - - - (19) (19) 

Depreciation for the year (158) (326) (4,908) (8,089) (13,481) 

Closing carrying amount 3,836 1,270 16,096 5,862 27,064 

      

As of 31 December 2021      

Historical cost 4,281 3,320 33,157 28,479 69,236 

Accumulated depreciation (445) (2,050) (17,061) (22,617) (42,172) 

Carrying amount 3,836 1,270 16,096 5,862 27,064 
 

Financial year 1 January – 
31 December 2020 

Buildings and 
land 

Improvements 
to leased 
property 

Machinery and 
other technical 

facilities 

Equipment, tools 
and fixtures and 

fittings Total 
Opening carrying amount 4,073 2,037 15,952 4,805 26,868 

Exchange differences - - - (72) (72) 

Reclassification 25 - - (25) - 

Purchases for the year 43 - 6,650 16,640 23,333 

Divestments and disposals - - (14) - (14) 

Depreciation for the year (146) (441) (4,863) (7,958) (13,408) 

Closing carrying amount 3,994 1,596 17,726 13,390 36,706 

      

As of 31 December 2020      

Historical cost 4,281 3,320 29,879 27,875 65,354 

Accumulated depreciation (286) (1,723) (12,153) (14,486) (28,648) 

Carrying amount 3,994 1,596 17,726 13,390 36,706 
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16. Intangible assets 
  

Trademarks 
Customer 
contracts Goodwill 

Other 
intangible 

assets Total 

      

Financial year 1 January – 31 
December 2021 

     

Opening carrying amount 135,894 447,179 940,939 5,625 1,529,638 

Exchange differences - - (25) - (25) 

Purchases for the year - - - 6,257 6,257 

Added through business combination 
(Note 26) - - 5,939 255 6,194 

Amortisation for the year - (62,363) - (1,313) (63,676) 

Closing carrying amount 135,894 384,816 946,853 10,824 1,478,388 

      

As of 31 December 2021      

Historical cost 135,894 540,723 946,853 19,851 1,643,321 

Accumulated amortisation - (155,907) - (9,026) (164,934) 

Carrying amount 135,894 384,816 946,853 10,824 1,478,388 
 
  

Trademarks 
Customer 
contracts Goodwill 

Other 
intangible 

assets Total 

      

Financial year 1 January – 31 
December 2020 

     

Opening carrying amount 135,894 509,542 940,939 5,069 1,591,444 

Purchases for the year - - - 1,697 1,697 

Amortisation for the year - (62,363) - (1,141) (63,504) 

Closing carrying amount 135,894 447,179 940,939 5,625 1,529,638 

      

As of 31 December 2020 
     

Historical cost 135,894 540,723 940,939 13,009 1,630,566 

Accumulated amortisation - (93,544) - (7,384) (100,928) 

Carrying amount 135,894 447,179 940,939 5,625 1,529,638 
 

 
  

 Testing for impairment requirements for trademarks  

Trademarks are monitored by the strategic steering group at operating segment level. The table below shows a breakdown of 
trademarks by operating segment. 

Trademarks 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Warehousing 55,289 55,289 

Transport Management 47,110 47,110 

Customs 3,198 3,198 

Ports 10,443 10,443 

Staffing 19,854 19,854 

Total 135,894 135,894 
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The recoverable amount of goodwill has been determined based on calculations of value in use. The CEO has assessed that 
sales growth, EBITDA margin, discount rate and long-term growth are the most important assumptions in the impairment 
testing. Calculations of the value in use are based on estimated future cash flows before tax based on financial budgets 
approved by Management and covering a five-year period. The calculation is based on Management’s experience and 
historical data. The long-term sustainable growth rate for the operating segments has been assessed based on industry 
projections. 
 
The key assumptions, long-term growth rate and discount rate, that have been used when calculating the value in use, are 
specified below for each operating segment to which, in accordance with the above, a significant amount has been allocated 
for goodwill and trademarks.  
 Key assumptions used for calculations of value in use:  
Staffing 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 
Discount rate before tax* 14.6% 14.6% 
Long-term growth rate** 2.0% 2.0% 
   
Warehousing  31/12/2021 31/12/2020 
Discount rate before tax* 14.6% 14.6% 
Long-term growth rate** 2.0% 2.0% 
   
Ports 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 
Discount rate before tax* 14.6% 14.6% 
Long-term growth rate** 2.0% 2.0% 
   
Customs  31/12/2021 31/12/2020 
Discount rate before tax* 14.6% 14.6% 
Long-term growth rate** 2.0% 2.0% 
   
Transport Management  31/12/2021 31/12/2020 
Discount rate before tax* 14.6% 14.6% 
Long-term growth rate** 2.0% 2.0% 
 
 
 

    
 *Discount rate before tax used when calculating present value of estimated future cash flows. 
**Weighted average growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period. 

Sensitivity analysis for goodwill and trademarks:  
No reasonable change in any of the key assumptions would lead to impairment requirements in the operating 
segments, with the exception of the operating segment Ports, where a reasonable change in one of the key 
assumptions would lead to a minor impairment requirement. 
 
 
The recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amounts for goodwill and trademarks for the operating segment Ports. This also 
applies to the assumption if: 
– the discount rate before tax had been 1.3 percentage points higher, 
– the estimated growth rate to extrapolate cash flows beyond the five-year period had been 1.9 percentage points lower. 
 
The most significant assumptions, apart from discount rate and long-term growth rate, are EBITDA margin and sales growth. A 
change in these two assumptions by -1.3 and -2.1 percentage points respectively would not result in any impairment. If one of 
the above values were to worsen still further, this would result in an impairment requirement. 

 Testing for impairment requirements for goodwill  

Goodwill is monitored by the strategic steering group at operating segment level. The table below shows a breakdown of 
goodwill by operating segment. 

Goodwill 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Warehousing 565,981 565,981 

Transport Management 144,290 144,290 

Customs 58,932 53,018 

Ports 90,359 90,359 

Staffing 87,291 87,291 

Total 946,853 940,939 
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17. Lease agreements 
  

In the balance sheet, the following amounts are recognised in relation to lease agreements:   

   31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Assets with right-of-use:    

Premises/Real estate  264,832 309,566 

Vehicles  3,481 4,652 

Production machinery/Forklifts  20,398 25,802 

Total  288,711 340,021 

    

Lease liabilities:    

Non-current   219,418 271,256 

Current  68,831 65,855 

Total  288,249 337,111 
 
Additional right-of-use assets during the 2021 financial year amounted to SEK 7,194 thousand (2020: SEK 56,299 thousand). 
 

In the income statement, the following amounts are recognised in relation to lease agreements:  

  1 January-31 

December 2021 

1 January-31 

December 2020 

Amortisation of right-of-use assets:   

Premises/Real estate 57,359 59,648 

Vehicles 2,465 2,125 

Production machinery/Forklifts 9,753 9,786 

Total 69,577 71,559 

   
Interest expenses (included in financial expenses) 7,437 8,459 

Expenses attributable to short-term lease agreements (included in the 

item Other external expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income) 
5,340 1,533 

Expenses attributable to lease agreements for which the underlying asset 

is of low value and which are not short-term lease agreements (included in 

the item Other external expenses) 

488 557 

No material variable lease payments not included in the lease liability have been identified. 

 
 
Contracted investments regarding right-of-use assets at the end of the reporting period not yet recognised in the financial 
statements amount to SEK 0 thousand (2020: SEK 0 thousand). 

 

Total cash flow related to lease agreements was SEK 80,466 thousand (2020: SEK 78,854 thousand).  

For information about the lease liability maturity date and term analysis, please see Note 2.1. 
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18. Other non-current receivables 
 

   31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Opening balance:  1,652 1,432 

Deposits paid  3,870 226 

Receivables settled  (8) (4) 

Translation differences for the year  1 (2) 

Closing balance  5,515 1,652 

Other non-current receivables essentially consist of deposits related to guarantees provided to public authorities. 
 

19. Financial instruments by category 

 31/12/2021 

Financial assets 
valued at amortised 

cost Total 
Balance sheet assets   

Other non-current receivables 5,515 5,515 

Accounts receivable 181,151 181,151 

Accrued income 88,400 88,400 

Cash and cash equivalents 256,081 256,081 

Total 531,147 531,147 

 

 31/12/2021 

Financial liabilities 
valued at amortised 

cost Total 
Balance sheet liabilities    

Bond loans 810,000 810,000 

Liabilities to shareholders 340,700 340,700 

Accounts payable 115,462 115,462 

Other current liabilities  6,833 6,833 

Accrued expenses 18,339 18,339 

Total  1,291,333 1,291,333 
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 31/12/2020 

Financial assets 
valued at amortised 

cost Total 
Balance sheet assets   

Other non-current receivables 1,652 1,652 

Accounts receivable 145,938 145,938 

Accrued income 78,255 78,255 

Cash and cash equivalents 239,681 239,681 

Total 465,526 465,526 

 

 31/12/2020 

Financial liabilities 
valued at amortised 

cost Total 
Balance sheet liabilities    

Bond loans 900,000 900,000 

Liabilities to shareholders 302,377 302,377 

Accounts payable 95,900 95,900 

Other current liabilities  2,701 2,701 

Accrued expenses 23,803 23,803 

Total  1,324,781 1,324,781 

 
In addition to the financial instruments specified in the tables (above), the Group has financial liabilities in the form of lease 
liabilities, which are recognised and valued in accordance with IFRS 16. 
 

20. Accounts receivable 
 

   31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Accounts receivable  181,391 146,238 

Less: reserves for expected credit losses  (240) (299) 

Accounts receivable – net  181,151 145,938 

 
Carrying amounts, per currency in currency amount stated in thousands, for the Group’s accounts receivable are 
as follows: 

 

   31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

SEK  136,804 114,355 

NOK  34,343 28,894 

EUR  778 414 

DKK  993 40 

ZAR  0 7 

USD  3 1 

GBP  1 0 

Total translated into SEK  181,391 146,238 
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The maximum exposure to credit risk as of the balance sheet date for accounts receivable is the carrying amount according 
to the above.  

The fair value of the accounts receivable corresponds to their carrying amount, since the discount effect is not material. 

The amounts shown in the table include accounts receivable reported in entities with a different functional currency than the 
Group’s presentation currency. 

No accounts receivable have been pledged as surety for any debt. 

21. Other receivables 
 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Tax account 1,539 2,016 

Allowance from the Swedish Public Employment Service 2,782 1,322 

Other current receivables 825 89 

Total 5,146 3,427 

 

22. Prepaid expenses and accrued income 
 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Accrued income (non-invoiced work) 88,400 78,255 

Start-up costs 4,007 4,147 

Other prepaid expenses 11,236 11,542 

Total 103,642 93,944 

 

 Expenditures for performance of a contract 
There are expenditures for performance of long-term contracts for which the Group recognises an asset attributable to 
customer contracts. These are included in the item Prepaid expenses and accrued income. 
 
Expenditures for performance of a contract relate to expenditures that have arisen in connection with start-up and which are 
used to perform a long-term logistics assignment. The expenditures are directly attributable to the contract, generate 
resources that will be used in performance of the contract and are expected to be able to be recovered. The asset is expensed 
on a straight-line basis over the contract period for the contract to which it is attributable. 

Assets that have been recognised from expenditures for 

performance of a contract: 

 

31/12/2021 

 

31/12/2020 

Opening balance 4,147 3,929 

Additional assets 1,683 2,120 

Expensing of assets on a straight-line basis during the period  

(1,824) 

 

(1,901) 

Closing balance 4,007 4,147 

 

   

23. Cash and cash equivalents 
 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Bank balances, Group account 245,067 220,509 

Bank balances, other 11,014 19,172 

Total 256,081 239,681 
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24. Share capital and other contributed capital 
 

Number of shares  Share capital 
Other contributed 

capital 
As of 31 December 2020 5,565,247 5,565 465,086 

As of 31 December 2021 5,565,247 5,565 465,086 

 
As of 31 December 2021, the share capital consists of 5,565,247 ordinary shares with a quota value of SEK 1, which is 
unchanged from 2020.  

All shares issued by the Parent Company are fully paid. 

 
 

25. Borrowings 
Carrying 
amount 

Carrying 
amount 

 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 
Non-current loans with pledged assets   

Bond loans 810,000 900,000 

Total loans with pledged assets 810,000 900,000 

   
Non-current loans without pledged assets   

Liabilities to shareholders 340,700 302,377 

Total loans without pledged assets 340,700 302,377 

   

Total borrowings 1,150,700 1,202,377 

 

The carrying amount of non-current borrowings is consistent in all material respects with fair value. This applies to both the 

bond loan and the shareholder loan.  

Bond loans 

The Group has issued a bond, Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes. The bonds have a term through 31/10/2024 and have a fixed 

interest rate and a variable interest rate based on STIBOR 3 months. According to the terms of the bond, certain financial 

borrowing conditions must be met, such as the establishment of a certain debt/equity ratio when raising further loans in 

accordance with the bond terms and conditions. The bond is in Swedish kronor (SEK). 

Shareholder loans run at a fixed interest rate. The interest is capitalised on the loan and is only paid on the loan’s maturity date. 
Shareholder loans have a maturity corresponding to the bond loan. 
 

Pledged assets have been provided for the bond loan in the form of shares in group companies. 

Revolving credit facility 
The Group has a revolving credit facility, Super Senior Revolving Credit Facility. The revolving credit facility has a maximum limit 
of SEK 110,000 thousand. As of 31 December 2021, SEK 50 thousand was utilised and SEK 109,950 thousand was unutilised, 
which is unchanged from 31 December 2020. SEK 50 thousand has been utilised as a pledged asset. 
 
The fair value of current borrowings corresponds to their carrying amount, since the discount effect is not material. The fair 
value of financial assets, all of which are entirely current, is deemed to correspond to the carrying amount since the discount 
effect is not material. 
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26. Business combinations 
Business combinations during the 2021 financial year 

On 8 September 2021, 100% of the shares in Dan Spedition A/S were acquired. The acquisition was carried out in the subsidiary 

Logent AB. An acquisition analysis was prepared for the acquisition of the entire business. Details of the purchase 

consideration, the net assets acquired and goodwill are shown below. 

The table below summarises the purchase consideration paid for Dan Spedition A/S and the fair value of acquired assets and 

assumed liabilities as recognised on the acquisition date. 

Purchase consideration – cash flow 

Cash flow to acquire Dan Spedition A/S, less acquired cash and cash equivalents 31/12/2021 

Cash consideration 6,629 

Less: Acquired cash and cash equivalents (219) 

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents – investing activities  6,410 
 
  

Purchase consideration as of 8 September 2021   

Cash and cash equivalents 6,629 

Total purchase consideration 6,629 

  

Carrying amounts of identifiable acquired assets and assumed liabilities  

Cash and cash equivalents  219 

Intangible assets  255 

Tangible fixed assets  19 

Financial fixed assets 76 

Deferred tax assets 5 

Accounts receivable and other current receivables 1,264 

Accounts payable and other current liabilities (1,147) 

Total identifiable net assets  691 

  

Goodwill 5,939 

  

Goodwill  

The goodwill of SEK 5,939 thousand that arose from the acquisition is mainly attributable to the value of future synergies and 

future new sales expected to be generated by the acquisition.  No part of the recognised goodwill is expected to be deductible 

for income tax purposes. 

Revenue and earnings of acquired business  

The company contributed revenue of SEK 2,839 thousand and earnings of SEK 499 thousand to the Group for the period 8 

September – 31 December 2021. If the acquisition had been carried out on 1 January 2021, revenue from the company would 

have been SEK 8,235 thousand, and earnings from the company would have been SEK 1,229 thousand.     
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27. Deferred tax 

 

Deferred tax liabilities 

Intangible assets 
(trademarks and 

customer contracts) 
Tax allocation 

reserves Total 

As of 31 December 2020 120,113 8,008 128,121 

Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income 

(12,846) 4,676 (8,170) 

As of 31 December 2021 107,267 12,684 119,951 

 

Deferred tax assets Lease liability Temporary differences Total 
As of 31 December 2020 811 212 1,023 

Through acquisition - 5 5 

Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income 

304 35 339 

As of 31 December 2021 1,115 252 1,367 

 
 

Deferred tax liabilities 

Intangible assets 
(trademarks and 

customer contracts) 
Tax allocation 

reserves Total 

As of 31 December 2019 138,123 3,574 141,697 

Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income 

(18,010) 4,434 (13,576) 

As of 31 December 2020 120,113 8,008 128,121 

 

Deferred tax assets Lease liability Temporary differences Total 
As of 31 December 2019 320 162 482 

Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income 

491 51 542 

As of 31 December 2020 811 212 1,023 

 
There are no loss carryforwards attributable to which any deferred tax asset has been recognised. There are other temporary 
differences attributable to negative net interest saved, on which deferred tax assets of SEK 16,072 thousand (SEK 11,705 
thousand) have been recognised. These temporary differences mature in 4-6 years. 
 

28. Other current liabilities 
 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

VAT liabilities 32,124 32,931 

Personnel-related liabilities 49,087 39,272 

Other liabilities 6,833 2,701 

Total 88,044 74,904 
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29. Accrued expenses and deferred income 
  31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Deferred income 4,665 7,820 

Accrued salaries 82,730 53,018 

Accrued holiday pay 76,829 56,301 

Accrued social security contributions 31,351 21,151 

Accrued interest etc. 8,328 9,106 

Other accrued expenses 15,577 24,458 

Total 219,479 171,854 

 

30. Pledged assets 
 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Floating charges 50,450 50,450 

Shares in subsidiaries 359,908 383,221 

Rental guarantee 23,849 23,849 

Customs guarantee 210 196 

Total 434,417 457,716 

 

31. Transactions with related parties 
SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of SSCP Lager MidCo AB. SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ) is part of a 
group for which SSCP Lager TopCo AB prepares the consolidated financial statements for the largest group. 

The following transactions have taken place with related parties: 
2021 2020 

 
(a) Loans from related parties   

  31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Loans from SSCP Lager MidCo AB     

At beginning of year 302,377 268,403 

Loans raised during the year - - 

Amortised amounts  - - 

Interest expenses 38,322 33,975 

Interest paid - - 

At end of year 340,700 302,377 

   

 
Loans from related parties relate to shareholder loans as part of the financing of the acquisition of Entlog Holding AB. Loans to 
related parties relate to financing of subsidiaries’ liabilities in connection with the acquisition of Entlog Holding AB. 
 
In 2021 the Group has paid a consulting fee to board member Kurt Liljegren in an amount equivalent to SEK 26 thousand (2020: 
SEK 234 thousand). 
 
The Group has no provisions for bad debts attributable to related parties, nor has the Group recognised any costs related to 
bad debts concerning related parties during the period. No surety has been pledged for the receivables. 
 
The loans from SSCP Lager MidCo AB have a maturity corresponding to the bond loan with an annual interest rate which is 
capitalised annually (no payment of interest is made). The loans are not pledged and are paid in cash. 
 
 
Details of remuneration to senior executives are presented in Note 8. 
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32. Changes in liabilities belonging to financing activities 
     

Non-cash items 
 

  31/12/2020 Cash inflow Cash 
outflow 

Additional 
business 

combinations 

Accrued 
interest 

Lease 
agreements 

IFRS 16 

31/12/2021 

Lease liabilities 337,111 - (67,201) - - 18,339 288,249 

Bond loans 900,000 - (90,000) - - - 810,000 

Shareholder loans 302,377 - - - 38,322 - 340,700 

Total 1,539,489 - (157,201) - 38,322 18,339 1,438,949 
     

Non-cash items 
 

  31/12/2019 Cash inflow Cash 
outflow 

Additional 
business 

combinations 

Accrued 
interest 

Lease 
agreements 

IFRS 16 

31/12/2020 

Lease liabilities 346,618 - (68,305) - - 58,798 337,111 

Bond loans 900,000 - - - - - 900,000 

Shareholder loans 268,403 - - - 33,975 - 302,377 

Total 1,515,021 - (68,305) - 33,975 58,798 1,539,489 
 
 
 

33. Adjustments for items not included in cash flow 

 2021 2020 

Depreciation and amortisation 146,734 148,470 

Capital gains/losses on disposal of fixed assets 72 45 

Translation differences in profit/loss for the year (178) (106) 

Total 146,628 148,410 
 

34. Events after the end of the reporting period 
The spread of COVID-19 and its effects are addressed in the section on Significant risks and uncertainties in the Directors’ 
Report. 

 

 

 

35. Alternative performance measures 
The Group applies ESMA’s (the European Securities and Markets Authority’s) guidelines on alternative performance measures. An 

alternative performance measure is a financial measure of historical or future development of earnings, financial position or cash flow 

that is not defined or specified in IFRS. The interim report contains financial performance measures that are not defined in accordance 

with IFRS i.e. alternative performance measures. These alternative performance measures are considered to be important performance 

indicators for investors and other users of the interim report. The primary alternative performance measures presented relate to EBITA, 

EBITDA, net debt, adjusted EBITA and EBITDA excluding items affecting comparability and the effect of IFRS 16. Net debt is also 

presented exclusive of the effect of IFRS 16. The table below contains a reconciliation of the alternative performance measures and a 

description of their purpose. The Group’s definitions of these performance measures, which are not defined in accordance with IFRS, are 

described in this note. These terms may be defined differently by other companies and are therefore not always comparable with similar 

measures used by other companies. 
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Performance measure Definition Explanation 

EBITDA Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 

amortisation. 

EBITDA is intended to show an understanding of 

the Group’s operating activities independent of 

depreciation and amortisation of fixed assets and 

the Group’s financing. 

EBITA Earnings before interest, taxes and 

amortisation/impairment of trademarks, customer 

contracts and goodwill. 

EBITA is considered to be relevant by investors 

who want to understand the Group’s earnings after 

investments in tangible and intangible assets but 

before intangible assets attributable to business 

combinations. 

Adjusted EBITDA excluding 

IFRS 16 

EBITDA including adjustments for items affecting 

comparability (see Note 6) and excluding the 

effect of IFRS 16 (see Note 7). 

This measure is relevant for monitoring EBITDA 

excluding items affecting comparability and the 

effect of IFRS 16, in order to monitor the historical 

figures in accordance with the bond agreement. 

Adjusted EBITA excluding 

IFRS 16 

EBITA including adjustments for items affecting 

comparability (see Note 6) and excluding the 

effect of IFRS 16 (see Note 7). 

This measure is relevant for monitoring EBITA 

excluding items affecting comparability and the 

effect of IFRS 16, in order to monitor the historical 

figures in accordance with the bond agreement. 

Adjusted EBITDA excluding 

IFRS 16 (%) 

Adjusted EBITDA excluding IFRS 16 in relation to 

Net sales. 

This performance measure is relevant for creating 

an understanding of the operating profitability 

excluding depreciation and amortisation in relation 

to the Group’s net sales. The effect of IFRS 16 is 

excluded in order to report earnings in accordance 

with the bond agreement. 

Adjusted EBITA excluding 

IFRS 16 (%) 

Adjusted EBITA excluding IFRS 16 in relation to Net 

sales. 

This performance measure is relevant for creating 

an understanding of the operating profitability 

excluding depreciation and amortisation linked to 

business combinations in relation to the Group’s 

net sales. The effect of IFRS 16 is excluded in order 

to report earnings in accordance with the bond 

agreement. 

Net debt Interest-bearing financial liabilities, excluding 

liabilities to shareholders, less cash and cash 

equivalents. 

Net debt measures the external financing, taking 

into account the Group’s own cash and cash 

equivalents, and is useful for users of the financial 

reports as a supplementary measure for 

assessment of the Group’s ability to meet its 

financial commitments. 

Net debt excluding IFRS 16 Net debt excluding the effect of IFRS 16 (see Note 

7). 

This measures the external financing, taking into 

account the Group’s own cash and cash 

equivalents, but excluding lease liabilities arising in 

connection with IFRS 16, in order to report net debt 

in accordance with the bond agreement. 

 



 

SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ)    

 
   

72 
 

SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ)    
Corp. ID No. 559109-9154 

 

Reconciliation of alternative performance measures     
  Jan-Dec 

  2021 2020 

1) EBITDA     

Net operating profit/loss   100,649 80,415 

Depreciation and amortisation   146,734 148,470 

EBITDA   247,383 228,885 

    

2) EBITA     

Net operating profit/loss   100,649 80,415 

Amortisation/impairment of trademarks, customer 
contracts and goodwill  

 
62,363 62,363 

EBITA   163,012 142,777 

    

3) Adjusted EBITA excluding IFRS 16     

Net operating profit/loss   100,649 80,415 

Depreciation and amortisation   146,734 148,470 

Items affecting comparability (see Note 6)   0 (150) 

Effects of IFRS 16 (see Note 7)   (74,402) (76,441) 

Adjusted EBITDA excluding IFRS 16   172,981 152,294 

    

4) Adjusted EBITA excluding IFRS 16     

Net operating profit/loss   100,649 80,415 

Amortisation/impairment of trademarks, customer 
contracts and goodwill  

 
62,363 62,363 

Items affecting comparability (see Note 6)   0 (150) 

Effects of IFRS 16 (see Note 7)   (4,825) (4,882) 

Adjusted EBITA excluding IFRS 16   158,187 137,745 

    

5) Adjusted EBITA excluding IFRS 16 (%)     

Net sales   1,905,376 1,455,124 

Adjusted EBITDA excluding IFRS 16   172,981 152,294 

Adjusted EBITDA excluding IFRS 16 (%)   9.1% 10.5% 

    

6) Adjusted EBITA excluding IFRS 16 (%)     

Net sales   1,905,376 1,455,124 

Adjusted EBITA excluding IFRS 16   158,187 137,745 

Adjusted EBITA excluding IFRS 16 (%)   8.3% 9.5% 

    

    

    

    

7) Net debt     

Bond loans   797,838 881,572 

Bond loans – transaction costs (see Note 3)   12,162 18,428 

Lease liabilities   288,249 337,111 

Cash and cash equivalents   (256,081) (239,681) 

Net debt   842,168 997,430 

Lease liabilities   (288,249) (337,111) 

Net debt excluding IFRS 16   553,919 660,319 
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PARENT COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT 
   

Amounts in thousands of SEK   

  Financial period 

 Note 

1 Jan - 31 

Dec 2021 

1 Jan - 31 Dec 

2020 

    

Operating income    

Net sales 2 8,986 6,493 

Total  8,986 6,493 

    

Operating expenses    

Other external expenses 3 (5,059) (1,063) 

Personnel expenses  (3,501) (5,123) 

Net operating profit  426 307 

    

Result from financial items 4   

Other interest income and similar items  32,633 33,496 

Interest expenses and similar items  (98,507) (94,156) 

Total result from financial items  (65,873) (60,661) 

    

Net loss after financial items  (65,447) (60,354) 

    

Appropriations    

Group contributions received  129,099 121,039 

Transfer to tax allocation reserve  (22,699) (20,722) 

Total appropriations  106,400 100,317 

    

Net profit before tax  40,953 39,964 

    

Tax for the year 5 (14,028) (13,303) 

Net profit for the year  26,925 26,661 

    
The Parent Company has no items reported as other comprehensive income. Total comprehensive income for 
the period is therefore the same as the net profit for the period.  
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PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET 

Amounts in thousands of SEK      

  Note 

Note 

 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

ASSETS     

Fixed assets      

     

Financial fixed assets     

Participations in group companies 6  1,042,521 1,042,521 

Receivables from group companies 12  613,066 613,066 

Total financial fixed assets   1,655,587 1,655,587 

     

Total fixed assets   1,655,587 1,655,587 

     

Current assets     

     

Current receivables     

Receivables from group companies 12  129,779 36,582 

Other current receivables   5 650 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 7  58 8 

Total current receivables   129,842 37,240 

     

Cash and cash equivalents 8  - 10,596 

Total current assets   129,842 47,836 

     
TOTAL ASSETS 

 

  1,785,429 1,703,423 
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PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET 

Amounts in thousands of SEK      

  

  

 

Note 

 

 

Note 

 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     

Restricted equity     

Share capital 9  5,565 5,565 

Non-restricted equity 16    

Shareholder contributions   415,449 415,449 

Share premium reserve   49,637 49,637 

Retained earnings   3,488 (23,173) 

Net profit for the year   26,925 26,661 

Total equity    501,064 474,139 

      

UNTAXED RESERVES     

Transfer to tax allocation reserve   43,421 20,722 

Total untaxed reserves   43,421 20,722 

     

LIABILITIES     

Non-current liabilities     

Liabilities to shareholders 10, 12  340,700 302,377 

Bond loans    797,838 881,572 

Total non-current liabilities   1,138,537 1,183,949 

     

Current liabilities     

Accounts payable   61 (136) 

Tax liabilities   27,414 13,303 

Liabilities to group companies   63,829 - 

Other current liabilities   446 94 

Accrued expenses and deferred income 11  10,658 11,351 

Total current liabilities   102,407 24,613 

     

Total liabilities   1,240,944 1,208,562 

     

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   1,785,429 1,703,423 

  



 

SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ)    

 
   

76 
 

SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ)    
Corp. ID No. 559109-9154 

PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

   Restricted 
equity 

 

Non-restricted equity  
 

Amounts in thousands 
of SEK 

 

Note Share 
capital 

  
 

Share 
premium 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Net 
profit/loss for 

the year Total equity 
Opening balance 1 
January 2019 

 50  - - - 50 

Net profit/loss for the 
year (also 
comprehensive income) 

 
-  - - (23,173) (23,173) 

Total comprehensive 
income 2019 

 -  - - (23,173) (23,173) 

        
Transactions with 
shareholders in their 
role as owners 

 
      

Shareholder 
contributions 

 -  - 415,449 - 415,449 

Non-cash issue  5,515  49,637 - - 55,152 

Total transactions with 
shareholders in their 
role as owners 

 
5,515  49,637 415,449 - 470,602 

        

Closing balance 31 
December 2019 

 

 

 5,565 

 

 

 

 49,637 415,449 (23,173) 447,479 

        
Transfer of previous 
year’s profit/loss 

 -  - (23,173) 23,173 - 

Net profit/loss for the 
year (also 
comprehensive income) 

 -  - - 26,661 26,661 

Total comprehensive 
income 2020 

 -  - (23,173) 49,834 26,661 

        

Closing balance 31 
December 2020 

 

 5,565  49,637 392,276 26,661 474,139 

        

Transfer of previous 
year’s profit/loss 

 -  - 26,661 (26,661) - 

Net profit/loss for the 
year (also 
comprehensive income) 

 -  - - 26,925 26,925 

Total comprehensive 
income 2021 

 -  - 26,661 264 26,925 

        

Closing balance 31 
December 2021 

 

 5,565  49,637 418,937 26,925 501,064 
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PARENT COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

    Financial year 

Amounts in thousands of SEK Note  

2021 2020 
Cash flow from operating activities     

Net operating profit   426 307 

Adjustments for items not included in cash flow:     

- Exchange differences   - (4) 

Interest received   46,702 30,078 

Interest paid   (51,817) (55,040) 

Income tax paid   - - 

Cash flow from operating activities before changes 
in working capital 

  (4,689) (24,659) 

     

Cash flow from changes in working capital     

Changes in current operating receivables   22,428 4,013 

Changes in accounts payable   197 (15,489) 

Changes in other current operating liabilities   520 (375) 

Total changes in working capital   23,145 (11,851) 

     

Cash flow from operating activities   18,455 (36,509) 

     

Cash flow from investing activities     

Acquisition of subsidiaries including acquisition costs   - - 

Cash flow from investing activities   - - 

     

Cash flow from financing activities 13    

Borrowings   - - 

Amortisation of loans   - - 

Bond repurchase   (92,700) - 

Transaction costs – loans   (180) (900) 

Lending   - - 

Loans raised via Group account   63,829 - 

Shareholder contributions received   - - 

Cash flow from financing activities   (29,051) (900) 

     

Increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (10,596) (37,409) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   10,596 48,005 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   - 10,596 
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1. Accounting principles of the Parent Company 
Basis of preparation 

The annual report for the Parent Company, SSCP Lager BidCo AB, has been prepared in accordance with the Swedish Annual 

Accounts Act and RFR 2 Accounting for Legal Entities. RFR 2 states that in its annual report, the Parent Company must apply 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, to the extent this is possible within the framework of 

the Swedish Annual Accounts Act and the Swedish Pension Obligations Vesting Act, and with consideration of the relationship 

between accounting and taxation. The recommendation specifies the exceptions and additions required in relation to IFRS. 

Until the acquisition of the Entlog Holding AB Group on 28 June 2019, the Parent Company was a shelf company with no 

operations. 

The annual report has been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention. 

The preparation of reports in accordance with RFR 2 requires the use of some important estimates for accounting purposes. 

Furthermore, management is required to make certain assessments in the application of the Parent Company’s accounting 

principles. The areas that comprise a high degree of assessment, which are complex or such areas where assumptions and 

estimates are of significant importance for the annual report, are stated in Note 1.24 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Through its operations, the Parent Company is exposed to a variety of financial risks: market risks (currency risk and interest 

rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Parent Company’s overall risk management policy focuses on the unpredictability of 

the financial markets and strives to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. For more 

information on financial risks, please see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.  

The Parent Company consequently applies the principles presented in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, with the 

exceptions set out below. 

Format 

The income statement and balance sheet follow the format of the Swedish Annual Accounts Act. The statement of changes in 

equity follows the format of the Group but must contain the columns specified in the Swedish Annual Accounts Act. This also 

implies differences in terms used compared to the consolidated financial statements, mainly regarding financial income and 

expenses and equity.  

Shares in subsidiaries 

Shares in subsidiaries are recognised at historical cost less any write-downs. Historical cost includes acquisition-related costs 

and any additional purchase consideration.  

When there is an indication that shares in subsidiaries have decreased in value, the recoverable amount is calculated. If this is 

lower than the carrying amount, a write-down is performed. Write-downs are recognised in the item ”Result from participations 

in group companies”. 

Shareholder contributions  

Shareholder contributions made are recognised in the Parent Company as an increase in the carrying amount of the share, and 

in the receiving company as an increase in equity. 

Financial instruments 

IFRS 9 is not applied in the Parent Company. Instead, the Parent Company applies the paragraphs stated in RFR 2 (IFRS 9 

Financial Instruments, pp. 3-10). 

Financial instruments are valued on the basis of historical cost. In subsequent periods, financial assets acquired to be held 

temporarily will be recognised in accordance with the lowest value principle, at the lower of historical cost or market value. 

Derivative instruments with negative fair value are recognised at this value. 
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When calculating the net realisable value of receivables recognised as current assets, the principles for impairment testing and 

loss risk reserves in IFRS 9 must be applied. For a receivable that is recognised at amortised cost at group level, this means that 

the loss risk reserve recognised in the Group in accordance with IFRS 9 must also be reported in the Parent Company. 

2. Net sales 
 

The Parent Company’s net sales consist of management fees to subsidiaries. 
 

3. Remuneration to auditors  
 

Remuneration to auditors 

2021 2020 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AB   

– Audit assignment - - 

– Other services - 1,103 

Total - 1,103 

Remuneration to auditors is paid from Logent Holding AB, a subsidiary of SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ).  
 

4. Interest income and similar items, and interest expenses and similar items 
  2021 2020 
Interest income, group companies 32,633 33,493 

Total interest income  32,633 33,493 

   

Interest expenses, group companies 38,322 33,975 

Interest expenses, external 50,878 54,941 

Transaction costs – loans 6,266 4,989 

Exchange differences 0 4 

Other financial expenses 3,041 245 

Total interest expenses and similar items 98,507 94,153 

   

Total financial items – net (65,873) (60,661) 
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5. Tax for the year 
Reported tax in the income statement 

 2021 2020 
Current tax    

Current tax on profit/loss for the year  (14,028) (13,303) 

Adjustments for previous years  - - 

Total current tax  (14,028) (13,303) 

    

Total reported tax  (14,028) (13,303) 

    

The income tax on net profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would have been obtained using the tax rate 
for the Parent Company as follows: 

 
  

 2021 2020 
Net profit before tax  40,953 39,964 

Income tax calculated according to the tax rate in Sweden (2021: 
20.6%, 2020: 21.4%) 

 (8,436) (8,552) 

Tax effects of:    

Tax effect of non-taxable income  - - 

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses   (17) (18) 

Tax effect of non-deductible negative net interest  (5,554) (5,374) 

Tax attributable to previous years’ reported profit or loss  - 641 

Standard rate interest on tax allocation reserve  (21) - 

Total reported tax  (14,028) (13,303) 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax loss carryforwards or other deductions to the extent that it is probable that they 

can be utilised through future taxable profits. Unutilised loss carryforwards for which no deferred tax asset has been 

recognised amount to SEK 0 thousand as of 31/12/2021 (31/12/2020: SEK 0 thousand). Loss carryforwards do not have a 

maturity date. 

 
 
6. Shares in group companies 
The Parent Company holds shares in the following subsidiaries: 

Name Corp. ID no. 

Registered office and 
country of 

incorporation and 
operation 

 Number of 
shares 

Carrying 
amount  

31/12/2021 
Entlog Holding AB 556946-9389 Stockholm, Sweden 406,087 1,042,521 

 
  31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Opening historical cost  1,042,521 947,535 

Acquisition of subsidiaries  - - 

Adjustment of acquisition-related costs  - (150) 

Shareholder contributions made  - 95,137 

Closing accumulated historical cost  1,042,521 1,042,521 

 

7. Prepaid expenses and accrued income 
  31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Other prepaid expenses  58 8 

Total 58 8 
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8. Cash and cash equivalents 
   

Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement include the 
following: 

 

   

  31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Bank balances   - 10,596 

Total  - 10,596 

The Company has raised loans via the Group’s 
Cashpool account during 2021. 

   

Group account (Cashpool)  (63,829) - 

Total  (63,829) - 

9. Share capital  
 
Please refer to Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements for information on the Parent Company’s share capital.  

10. Non-current liabilities to group companies 
  31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Liabilities to SSCP Lager MidCo AB  340,700 302,377 

Total 340,700 302,377 

 

11. Accrued expenses and deferred income 
  31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Accrued holiday pay  270 279 

Accrued social security contributions  208 170 

Accrued interest  8,328 9,106 

Other accrued expenses  1,852 1,796 

Total 10,658 11,351 
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12. Transactions with related parties 
SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of SSCP Lager MidCo AB. SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ) is part of a 
group for which SSCP Lager TopCo AB prepares the consolidated financial statements for the largest group. 

The following transactions have taken place with related parties: 
2021 2020 

(a) Sales of goods and services   

Management fees to subsidiaries 

 

8,986 6,493 

 Total 8,986 6,493 

 

Receivables and liabilities at end of year as a result of sales and purchases of goods and services 
  31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Receivables from related parties:     

Logent AB 409 (3,713) 

   

Loans from related parties 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Loans from SSCP Lager MidCo AB & Cashpool from Logent AB     

At beginning of year 302,377 268,403 

Loans raised during the year - - 

Amortised amounts  - - 

Interest expenses 38,322 33,975 

Interest paid - - 

Loans raised via Group account (Cashpool) 63,829 - 

At end of year 404,528 302,377 

   

Loans to related parties 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Loans to Entlog Holding AB and Logent Holding AB     

At beginning of year 653,361 623,989 

Loans raised during the year (53) 4 

Amortised amounts  (25,902) - 

Interest income 32,633 33,493 

Interest received (46,702) (30,028) 

Group contributions received 127,690 121,039 

Shareholder contributions made - (95,137) 

At end of year 741,027 653,361 

   

   

   

Loans from related parties relate to shareholder loans as part of the financing of the acquisition of Entlog Holding AB. Loans to 
related parties relate to financing of subsidiaries’ liabilities in connection with the acquisition of Entlog Holding AB. 
 
The loans from SSCP Lager MidCo AB have a maturity corresponding to the bond loan with an annual interest rate of 12.5% 
which is capitalised annually (no payment of interest is made). The loans are not pledged and are paid in cash. 
 
The loans to subsidiaries have a maturity corresponding to the bond loan with an annual interest rate of 5.25% + STIBOR 3M 
which is paid quarterly. 
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13. Changes in liabilities belonging to financing activities 
 
The operations of the Parent Company started with the acquisition of the shares in Entlog Holding AB on 28 June 2019. 

 

01/01/2021 Cash inflow Cash outflow 
Non-cash items 

31/12/2021 Accrued interest 

Liabilities to 
shareholders 302,377 - - 38,322 340,700 

Bond loans 900,000 - (90,000) - 810,000 

Total 1,202,377 - (90,000) 38,322 1,150,700 

 
 

01/01/2020 Cash inflow Cash outflow 
Non-cash items 

31/12/2020 Accrued interest 

Liabilities to 
shareholders 268,403 - - 33,975 302,377 

Bond loans 900,000 - - - 900,000 

Total 1,168,403 - - 33,975 1,202,377 

14. Pledged assets 
As of 31 December 2021, the Group had pledged assets resulting from the fact that SSCP Lager BidCo AB (publ) has pledged 
the shares in Entlog Holding AB and its subsidiaries for a bond loan issued 31 October 2019. Shares pledged as surety 
amounted to SEK 1,042,521 thousand as of 31 December 2020, and this figure remains unchanged as of 31 December 2021. 

 

15. Events after the end of the reporting period 

The effects of COVID-19 are described in the Group’s Directors’ Report above. 

16. Proposed appropriation of profits 
The following profits are available to the Annual General Meeting: 

 
  

Unconditional shareholder contributions 415,449,187 

Share premium reserve 49,637,223 

Retained earnings 3,487,543 

Net profit for the year 26,924,535 

Swedish kronor (SEK) 495,498,488 

  
The Board of Directors proposes that the profits be appropriated as follows: 

 
 
To be distributed to shareholders as dividends 0 

To be carried forward 495,498,488 

Swedish kronor (SEK) 495,498,488 
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The consolidated income statement and balance sheet will be presented to the Annual General Meeting on 22/04/2022 for 
adoption. 

 

The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer confirm that the consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and that they give 
a true and fair view of the Group’s position and performance. The annual report has been prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting standards and gives a true and fair view of the Parent Company’s position and performance.  
 
The Directors’ Report for the Group and the Parent Company gives a true and fair overview of the development of the 
Group’s and the Parent Company’s operations, position and performance, and describes the material risks and uncertainties 
faced by the Parent Company and the companies included in the Group. 

 

Stockholm, 22/04/2022 

 

_____________________ _____________________ 

Dario Aganovic Kurt Liljergren 
Chairman of the Board  Board member 

 

 

_____________________ _____________________ 

Henrik Lif Andrea Gisle Joosen 
Board member  Board member 

 

 

_____________________                                                                         

Mats Steen                                                             
Chief Executive Officer                                         

 

 

Our auditor’s report was submitted on 22/04/2022 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB 

 

_____________________ 

Niklas Renström 
Authorised Public Accountant 
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